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1.1. Scope and purpose

UT Austin’s current campus plan was prepared by Cesar Pelli &
Associates and Balmori Associates, Landscape Architects, between
1994 and 1996. It was published in 1999 as two volumes, the Master
Plan and the Master Plan Architectural and Landscape Design
Guidelines.

The document you are reading was conceived as a plug-in, expanding

on treatment of historic building and landscape fabric — either a third
volume of the old campus plan, or a preliminary component of a new

plan.

Its scope includes:

¢ a history and assessment of the historical resources of the Forty
Acres, both architecture and landscape;

e a conservation plan, for both architecture and landscape
resources. The scope of the Architectural Conservation plan
is limited to exterior materials and conditions. It is based on
detailed examination of five case study buildings, and includes an
illustrated glossary of conditions;

e summary recommendations for campus preservation, on the
Forty Acres and beyond.

Our fundamental purpose is to identify features of the campus that
are of value to the university, and explore the best ways of maintaining
that value. The assessment of historic resources uses the criteria of
the National Register of Historic Places, which are widely-understood
standards for preservation professionals throughout the United States.
National Register standards are reflected in some review procedures
to which UT may be subject, and also some incentives for which it
may be eligible. But the plan should not be viewed through a lens of
compliance: its core purpose is for the University of Texas to assess
what in its heritage is important to preserve, and what in its historic
resources adds value to the university.
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Preservation Plan for the University of Texas Forty Acres

The Preservation Plan is not an overall design or facilities plan — the
1999 Master Plan did that, and redoing it is beyond the scope of this
project. We do review the design components of the 1999 Plan that
bear upon historic resources of the Forty Acres, and in some cases
suggest amendments.

This project was funded by the Getty Foundation in its last round
of Campus Heritage Grants. Work began late in 2007 and has been
carried out over the four years since.
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The Forty Acres and the full extent of the current campus

The Forty Acres is the original extent of the University of Texas. From
1881 to 1918 it was the whole of the campus. It remains a
management unit for campus planning and wayfinding (it is also the



eponymous area whose name is sometimes used to refer to the whole of
the campus, or even to the university itself; this report uses the term
Forty Acres only in the specific sense of the area from Guadalupe
Street to Speedway, 21st to 24th Street).

The Forty Acres served as the prototype for most buildings and much
landscape on the rest of the campus. The materials palette throughout
the campus follows the vocabulary established on the Forty Acres. This
Preservation Plan sets out to provide prototypical solutions, specifically
addressing conditions on the Forty Acres, and applicable beyond.

1.3. Campus plan and guidelines

The 1999 campus plan by Cesar Pelli & Associates is the successor
to Paul Cret’s 1934 plan, under which much of the UT campus was
developed. The core concept of the Pelli plan is to re-embrace the
principles in Cret’s plan, from which the campus had strayed in recent
decades.

The Forty Acres itself is treated as a conservation area, to be
maintained substantially as is, with changes intended only to complete
unrealized portions of Cret’s plan, correct departures from it, or

solve problems that have arisen since Cret’s day, consistent with the
intentions of his plan. In particular, the Pelli plan calls for:

e articulation of a North Mall. Most of this mall is outside the
Forty Acres; the portions on the Forty Acres include an addition
to the Main Building creating a public north entrance (and
appropriate terminus for the mall), and a Tower Court, unifying
the present miscellaneous spaces north of the Tower;

¢ pedestrianization of the whole Forty Acres, eliminating most
parking and vehicular access;

e pedestrianization also of Speedway and part of 24th Street, the
eastern and northern boundaries of the Forty Acres.

The plan includes many smaller and more specific recommendations,
which are noted below in the body of this report.

Since the adoption of the Pelli Plan, the following additional plan
components (each relevant to the Forty Acres) have advanced:

The Speedway Mall (together with revisions to East Mall), called for in
the Pelli Plan, has been designed by Peter Walker & Associates;
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Preservation Plan for the University of Texas Forty Acres

e The “Landmarks” Public Art Plan for the UT campus has been
launched;

e A Tree Master Plan has been drafted;

e The Sustainable Facilities Committee, convened jointly by UT Austin
and the UT System, has developed guidelines for campus design and
operations;

e Preservation planning is underway for Battle Hall, the Texas Union,
and the Tower;

e Work has begun on a new campus plan, including for the first time a
preservation component.



The Forty Acres is the historic core and original campus area of

The University of Texas at Austin, one of the largest and most
comprehensive universities in the United States (and the world),

and among the most elite of American public universities. Texas is a
populous state and one where the great majority of higher education is
provided by public institutions, with UT Austin at their pinnacle.

One purpose of this history is to provide the background for evaluating
the buildings and landscape of the Forty Acres for their eligibility for
listing on the National Register of Historic Places. National Register
eligibility is evaluated with respect to historical context. The important
contexts for understanding the Forty Acres are: higher education in
Texas and the United States; American campus design; the history and
urban design of Austin, and Texas growth and urbanization.

2.1. Historic context: Austin, Texas, and higher
education

Austin was laid out in 1839 as capital of the Republic of Texas, then a
nation that had won its independence from Mexico three years earlier,
and would join the United States in 1845 as the State of Texas. Austin
became the state capital, but was not confirmed as a permanent
capital until 1872. Austin was still a small city, with a still somewhat
frontier character. The first railroad did not arrive until 1871. Austin
was capital of a state whose population was primarily rural and its
economy primarily agricultural, including vast stretches of the almost-
empty Great Plains. By 1880, Austin held 11,000 inhabitants.

As in other American states, higher education in Texas began with
private colleges, most of them founded with a particular religious
affiliation. Baylor University (Baptist) was chartered by the Republic
of Texas in 1845; scores of other colleges were founded before the
Civil War, though few survived. Early Texans valued public education
— among the complaints in the Texas Declaration of Independence

1883



Preservation Plan for the University of Texas Forty Acres

was that the Mexican government had “failed to establish any public
system of education.” The Congress of the Republic of Texas, in the

Act establishing Austin as its capital city, also specified that a site be
set aside there for a university, and the same Congress set aside public
lands for the support of higher education. The Legislature took the
matter up again in 1858, but the Civil War interrupted before any state
university was established.

During the War the U.S. Congress in 1862 passed the Morrill Act,
offering public lands for the support of a public university in each state,
helping to democratize American higher education and to expand its
scale. Unlike exclusive private colleges, whose role included socializing
an elite, these new public institutions would educate students of modest
means, preparing many for newly-expanding practical professions. For
the most ambitious of these new institutions, the German university
provided another model, bringing its own brand of elite emphasis on
graduate education and research.

After Texas rejoined the Union, the Legislature accepted the Morrill
Act and applied its funding to an Agricultural and Mechanical
College of Texas (now Texas A&M University), founded in 1871

and opened in 1876. In the same year, the state opened Alta Vista
Agricultural College (now Prairie View A& M University) “for the
benefit of colored youth.”! Also in 1876, a new state Constitution
called for the establishment of a “university of the first class,” to

be called The University of Texas, its location to be selected by a
statewide referendum. In 1881 the Legislature chartered Regents
for The University of Texas, and on September 6, 1881, Texans voted
to locate the new university in Austin, with a Medical Branch in the
state’s largest city, Galveston. In contrast to A&M and its military-
themed education, The University of Texas from its inception was co-
educational.

Austin’s economy and identity now centered on government and
education. The city grew steadily but lagged behind other commercial
and industrial centers, falling from fourth largest city in the state

in 1880 to eleventh by 1920. Texas as a whole was growing rapidly,
climbing the ranks of American states. In 1881 the old Texas capitol
burned, and Texans demonstrated their ambition in the extraordinary
new capitol building, completed in 1888. With the Spindletop oil strike
of 1901, and many subsequent discoveries around Texas, oil became a
driver of the state’s economy. Texas industrialized, urbanized, and grew.
For Austin, this meant that the city served as a stage for the larger-
than-life drama of Texas politics. For The University of Texas, it meant
that the scale of its opportunities would be great.

1 “Higher Education,” Handbook of Texas Online, tshaonline.org/handbook/online/articles/UU/kcu9.html.



In the 1930s, the New Deal brought new opportunities for Texas,
Austin and the university. Programs such as rural electrification
alleviated the depression for the state’s still-agricultural population.
Public works included the beginning of the Highland Lakes, serving
both Austin and agricultural users. Texas’s Congressional delegation,
with its disproportionate share of committee chairs, had a great hand
in shaping these programs. Austin’s new Congressman, Lyndon Baines
Johnson, proved adept at bringing home the bacon. The University of
Texas reportedly had more New Deal construction projects than any
other university in the U.S.The city of Austin started growing rapidly in
the 1930s, and never stopped.

A distinguishing aspect of higher education in Texas is its finance. The
Congress of the Republic of Texas in 1839 set aside an endowment of
public lands for the future public university. The legislature in 1858
established an endowment of both land and funds, but the Civil War
interrupted work to establish a university, and diverted the funds that
had been set aside. The endowment was not fully restored until UT was
founded, and was supplemented with additional land in 1883, the year
UT opened. On May 28, 1923, the Santa Rita No. 1 well brought in oil
in the Permian Basin lands that belonged to the university, and
university development in Texas was soon funded much better than it
had been. In 1931, the legislature set a permanent allocation of the
Permanent University Fund — 2/3 for UT, 1/3 for A&M. The New Deal
temporarily eclipsed this source of funding, but over the long term the
PUF created a reliable basis for campus planning and development.?

Public higher education in Texas, as in other large states, has grown
continually through the addition of new institutions serving a variety
of needs in a number of locations: normal schools (teachers’ colleges)
beginning in 1879, state colleges (including upgrades of many of the
normal schools), community colleges. Since the middle of the twentieth
century these schools have been organized into multiple higher
education systems, with branch campuses distributed throughout the
state. The University of Texas system is the largest of these. Clearly
the university was conceived from the beginning as a system, with a
Medical Branch established at the same time as the main campus, and
the addition in 1913 of a School of Mines (now UT EI Paso) and in
1941 the addition of what is now the M. D. Anderson Cancer Center
in Houston. In 1950 the Regents created the position of Chancellor to
lead the system. In a series of incremental changes, mainly during the
1960s with its great expansion in enrollments, the modern UT System
took shape with UT Austin as its flagship.

2 “University of Texas at Austin,” Handbook of Texas Online. W. J. Battle, “A Concise History of The University
of Texas, 1883-1950,” The Southwestern Historical Quarterly 54:4 (April 1951), 391-93.
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2.2. Historic context: campus design in the U.S.

The campus is a design type of American origin that emerged gradually
as a set of precedents and expectations for the physical form of
colleges, and by the mid-twentieth century took on a broader expression
as the apotheosis of large-scale site design in the U.S., applied to

sets of offices, laboratories, hospitals or other large-scale multi-
building facilities. Its roots include European universities and religious
institutions, parks, American rural institutions, and exposition grounds.

Paul V. Turner traces the earliest American campus designs from
British university quadrangles, themselves based in part on the
prototypes of European cloistered monasteries. In America’s more
extensive and less urban setting, quadrangles took shape as groupings
of freestanding buildings; these buildings often departed from the
geometric logic of enclosure and gave rise to the “‘'Yale row’” as an early
formal tradition. Thomas Jefferson laid out the University of Virginia’s
“academical village,” incorporating architectural diversity and small
domestic scale, unified within a grand mall composition. Jefferson’s
plan was literally open-ended, for growth both through linear extension
as well as through the addition of parallel ranks of buildings.?

By the mid-nineteenth century, most American campuses followed
informal Romantic plans, modeled on American park design. Leading
park designer Frederick Law Olmsted prepared the first campus plan
for the University of California at Berkeley. This aesthetic well fit the
conception of the college as a rural institution, at a contemplative
distance from the distractions of city life, and it fit the early realities of
institutions that started out with more land than money for buildings.
Many of these campuses began as a single-structure “0ld Main’ on
the top of a hill. At its lowest common denominator, Romantic campus
planning incorporated informality — an absence of strong geometry —
usually with some regard for topography, and a curvilinear expression.

Formal planning re-emerged in the late nineteenth century, drawing
now from the traditions of the Ecole des Beaux-Arts in Paris, greatly
popularized by the Chicago World’s Columbian Exposition in 1893,
along with neo-Classical styles in reaction to Victorian eclecticism.
The “City Beautiful”” grew as a popular movement incorporating these
forms with parks and parkways, rooted on one side in Progressive
reform and on the other in new American imperial self-consciousness
after the Spanish-American War.

In campus design, Beaux-Arts formality appeared prominently in
Olmsted’s design for Stanford University, begun in 1888, which also
incorporated closed quadrangles. Geometrical formality characterized
the University of Chicago campus, constructed from 1890 to 1893

3 Paul V. Turner, Campus: An American Planning Tradition (MIT, 1984).



while the Columbian Exposition was taking shape next door. In New
York, Columbia University’s uptown move to its present Morningside
Heights campus, c. 1894, was another opportunity for Beaux-Arts
geometry in an urban setting. The common characteristics of these
examples suggest that Beaux-Arts planning was best suited to
campuses designed from scratch, where resources and circumstances
would allow the whole composition to be completed in a relatively brief
period. The University of California at Berkeley became an exception

of sorts when it sponsored an international competition in 1899 to
replan its existing campus. The winning designs each imposed formal
geometries onto the free-form layout; the campus as developed over the
next decades followed Beaux-Arts principles but in an open plan.

Re-planning of existing campuses increasingly became a subject of
attention, with the change in architectural fashion, the growth of
existing institutions, and a new focus on long-term planning. “‘Lately,”
wrote architect Alfred M. Githens in 1912, “‘the colleges have sickened
of their haphazard buildings and trustees have come to architectural
advisors, ‘landscape’ and otherwise, and each received something in
the nature of a comprehensive plan, ingeniously contrived so that by
moving a building here, tearing down a building there, building a new
yonder, taking up the old meandering drives and paths and setting out
straight ones, and so forth, their predecessors’ sins might no longer be
in evidence.”*

2.3. History of the Forty Acres

2.3.1. before UT

From Austin’s inception in 1839, land was reserved for a future
university.® The plan of the city’s“outlots” — large parcels beyond

the urban grid — set aside the next hill north of the Capitol, labeled
“College Grove.” The land’s protection was not flawless. During the
Civil War, General John B. Magruder reportedly cut down most of

the “grove” to erect fortifications. After the war, Whitis Avenue was
extended through the tract. Nonetheless the land remained in Austin’s

¢ Alfred Morton Githens, “Recent American Group Plans, Part I1I, Colleges and Universities: Development of
Existing Plans,” The Brickbuilder, Dec. 1912, 313, quoted in Turner, Campus, 204, n. 78.

5 In fact two separate parcels were set aside, perhaps because of competition between two surveyors working at
different times. The original plat of Austin, for the Republic of Texas, reserved a block of land bounded by 11th,
12th and Rio Grande Streets and West Avenue. The Forty Acres site was the less official one, reserved by the
City of Austin.
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1876 plan of Austin

civic consciousness through every new discussion about a university.
Upon the state’s vote in 1881 to locate the university in Austin, the
City deeded the land to the State, which gave title to the Regents of the
University of Texas.®

2.3.2.1881 -1910

The Regents held a design competition for the Main (and only)
Building. Frederik Ernst Ruffini, an active local architect, won.

Ruffini chose the new building’s site, though there was probably no
doubt that it would go on the high point near the center of the tract.
The cornerstone was laid November 17, 1882. It was to be the last
construction project for Abner Cooke, Austin’s leading builder since the
city’s birth. The University of Texas opened on September 15, 1883, in
borrowed quarters at the temporary State Capitol. The first, West wing
of the Main Building opened before the end of 1883, and classes moved
there in January, 1884. The middle third of the building, with the main
entrance and tower, was completed in 1889. The final, eastern third was
not completed until 1899.7

6 Cesar Pelli & Associates, Campus Master Plan: The University of Texas at Austin (1999), 11.

7 For the 1889 middle portion, the architect was Burt McDonald, and the builder his father, John McDonald.
The final, East, wing was supervised by architect J. L. 0’Connor and contractor D. Mahoney. These subsequent
architects substantially kept to Ruffini’s exterior design.

10



Six more buildings were built in the 25 years after Old Main first

opened: Chemistry
.“ - -
* First Power Plant, 1889 3 Engineering
e Brackenridge or “B” Hall (officially “*University Hall’’), Womans | ! B
donated by George W. Brackenridge, completed 1890 as a plain I Hall
rectangular building; an 1899 addition made it into an H-plan Old Main ‘

ornate Coney Island Gothic. B Hall was a dormitory for young
men of modest means, mostly rural and small-town students who

could not afford to join fraternities. | L 2
Pearce

e Chemistry Building (1891, Burt McDonald), after many
complaints about smells from the labs permeating Old Main.® Early buildings on the Forty Acres

e Woman’s Building (1903, Coughlin & Ayres), a dormitory.
e Engineering Building (1904, Coughlin & Ayres).

e Law School (1908, Atlee Ayres), later Pearce Hall.

Of all these early buildings, including Old Main, only the 1904
Engineering Building (now Dorothy Gebauer Hall) survives.

The first buildings were not so much arranged as distributed to empty
spots on the campus.® B Hall sat east of the projected east end of
Main. The Woman’s Building was sort of opposite on the other side
ofcampus, but not in any symmetrical relationship. Most buildings
occupied the high ground on the north half of the site; the Law School
was the exception, built on Twenty-first Street at the southeast corner
of the Forty Acres.

Architects Charles A. Coughlin and Atlee B. Ayres, of San Antonio,
prepared the first master plan for the campus in 1903. Their plan
showed buildings creating monumental gateways at the two southern
corners of the Forty Acres, and a row of pavilions between them. The
plan had little overall order or vision, and it had little effect on the
development of the campus, even though Coughlin and Ayres designed
the next three buildings.

8 |ib.utexas.edu/chem/history/notes.htmi, quoting “Exhibit K, Chemical Laboratory,” Report of the Regents, 4th,
1890, 44-47. Accord to Battle “The story goes that when a committee of legislators came up to investigate
the need of a separate chemistry building, the boys in the laboratory turned loose some Suphur Dioxide
(otherwise known as Rotten Egg Gas). At all events the committee approved the request.” Quoted in W. M. W.
Splawn, The University of Texas: Its Origin and Growth to 1928 (University of Texas, 1928), 143.

9 Battle: new buildings “were located at a convenient distance from the Main building but not according to any
plan of development”; Battle papers (Dolph Briscoe Center for American History), box 4Q526, folder 3: Early
Building Problems, cont’d, 2.

1886
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View from Main Building to the Capitol

The choice of sites for the capitol and the university, on
the first and second hills north from the river, created

a latent axis. The simple grid of the 1839 city plat did
not acknowledge it. University Avenue was laid out

just south of the Forty Acres, as an axial (though very
short) boulevard. It got off to a slow start, with the
capitol dome rising to the south, not quite on center, and
Ruffini’s design for Old Main providing a fit but at first
hypothetical monument to the north.

Cass Gilbert’s plan extended the axis within the campus
itself as a geometrically-defined South Mall. He sketched
multiple versions of a new main building to cap the hill
and terminate the axis, including a neoclassical Acropolis

12

(before he arrived in Austin and saw the modest scale of
the hill), and later a tower. When James M. White later
proposed a new main library on the South Mall, Battle
wrote to him: "I don’t think we can expect to give up the
N-S axis as one of the main axes. ... The University has
been facing Austin and the Capitol so long that it would
not be easy to abandon.”* Austin’s first city planners
evidently agreed: consultants Koch and Fowler in 1928
proposed that University Avenue be extended southward
across the city grid to bring the South Mall axis all the
way to the Capitol.?

! Battle to J.M. White, Oct. 17, 1924, President’s Office Records, CAH.

2 See comments in Cret, Report, 14. Cass Gilbert evidently considered a similar
scheme ¢. 1910, based on sketches on Austin street maps in his office. Christen
dissertation, 362 and fig. 66 (573).



When the university planned the present Main Building
and Tower, a principal concern was to provide “'a
satisfactory termination to the natural major axis of the
University, that north to south, and give a fine balance to
the Capitol at the other end.””?
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1928 Austin plan byKoch & Fowler, plate 7 (detail)

3 “Arguments for and Against the More Important Sites Proposed for the New
Library Building,” 2 (CAH)

Later in the twentieth century, as tall office and
residential buildings began to threaten the domination
(and even the visibility) of the Capitol Dome on the
skyline, the Legislature and the City of Austin enacted
building restrictions to protect specific vistas of the dome.
Capitol View Corridor Number One protects the view of
the dome from UT’s South Mall.*

The axis has sometimes been one of opposition, as in
the governorships of 0. B. Colquitt and Pa Ferguson,
during the teens, two governors in a row who attempted
to intervene in the university’s hiring decisions and
threatened to cut off all state funding.> More often

the axis has expressed the two great public institutions
around which much of Austin life orbits.

* Austin Downtown Commission, *Downtown Development and Capitol View
Corridors,” March 29, 2007, Public Comment Draft, 2.
5 Holland, The Texas Book, 95-97.
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Frederic Mann Plan, 1909

Engineering Building (1904, now Gebauer Hall), photo 1913

By 1909, UT President David Houston and Regent George W.
Brackenridge sought assistance from outside of Texas. Frederic Mann,
chair of architecture at Washington University, St. Louis, had just
designed University Methodist Church in Austin, immediately north of
the Forty Acres at Guadalupe and 24th. This church has been cited as
the prototype for UT’s Spanish Mediterranean architectural style (the
first UT building to incorporate a red tile roof was Mann’s new power
plant of 1910, demolished in 1977).1° Mann recommended demolishing
Old Main and most of the rest of the existing campus, starting anew
with tightly quadrangular buildings covering most of the Forty Acres
except for an open lawn and mall extending south from a new domed
main building. Mann brought a Beaux-Arts approach to the UT
campus, but even starting from scratch, he did not manage to convey a
convincing architectural identity, and the Regents quickly turned to a

truly national architect, Cass Gilbert.

2.3.3.The Cass Gilbert years: 1910 - 1922

Cass Gilbert (1859-1934) was president of the American Institute

of Architects, architect (after winning design competitions) of the
Minnesota State Capitol and the U.S. Customs House in New York City,
and had recently begun a campus plan for the University of Minnesota.

19 Margaret Catherine Berry, Brick by Golden Brick: A History of Campus Buildings at The University of Texas
at Austin, 1883-1993 (1993), 10.

14
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Cass Gilbert plan, 1910

He would soon design the Woolworth Building in New York, tallest
building in the world from 1913 to 1931, and later the U.S. Supreme
Court Building in Washington, D.C. UT engaged him as its first
University Architect.?

Gilbert’s 1910 plan laid out important elements of the UT campus
that has evolved in the century since. Four strong axes converged at

a central (new) Main Building. The Main Building was offset toward
the north so that the south axis remained the most prominent, a
double allee of trees and walks bounded by symmetrical buildings

and courtyards. Immediately in front of the Main Building this axis
widened into a formal forecourt. The perimeter of the Forty Acres
would be built out with rows of buildings, and the remainder of the four
quadrants filled out as quadrangles. Gilbert skillfully absorbed most of
UT’s existing buildings into this plan, even though the Law School and
Woman’s Building had been sited as if to defeat quadrangles, and B
Hall stood athwart the East-West centerline of the square campus.

11 The relationship with Gilbert was initiated by President Mezes’ brother-in-law, Col. Edward M. House, a
former gubernatorial candidate and future member of Woodrow Wilson’s cabinet. House’s own home was one
of the most architecturally distinguished in Austin, designed by New York Architect Frank Freeman; Carol
McMichael Reese, Paul Cret at Texas: Architectural Drawing and the Image of the University in the 1930s
(University of Texas. 1983), 30.

15
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Education Building (now Sut
1917

ton Hall),

Battle Hall under construction, 1910

At the same time that Gilbert was preparing his master plan, he also
designed the university’s new Main Library (now Battle Hall). The new
library took pride of place directly in front of Old Main, beginning to
define the forecourt that was to be the central space of the campus.
The renaissance facade served as an architectural challenge to the now
unfashionably Gothic main building. Its bright creamy white facade, its
elegantly simple geometry, made a visible call for higher aspirations.

Gilbert prepared a revised plan in 1914, and he designed a second
building, Education (completed 1918, now Sutton Hall). But Gilbert
had the misfortune to exercise his architecturally sure hand at a time
when the development of the campus was thrown in doubt from several
directions. First, building funds were not in hand — the Santa Rita oil
strike was years in the future, and the university did not yet have the
ability to bond against future income. Gilbert advised on university
funding practices in other states, but his advice bore no fruit while he
worked for UT.*? Second, high-profile fights with two successive
Governors distracted Regents and administrators for years, and further
increased uncertainty about funding. Most importantly, as Gilbert was
beginning his work, G. W. Brackenridge, longtime Regent and the

12 University of Texas, President’s Office Records. Architects. Center for American History, The University of
Texas at Austin.
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Cass Gilbert plan, 1914

university’s main benefactor, concluded that the forty-acre campus was
fatally undersized for a great university. In 1910, Brackenridge gave
the university 500 acres on the Colorado River just west of Austin,
intended as the site for a new campus.*?

1> Richard A. Holland, “George W. Brackenridge, George W. Littlefield, and the Shadow of the Past,” in Holland,
ed., The Texas Book : Profiles, History, and Reminiscences of the University (University of Texas, 2006), 92.
Gilbert favored the move to the Brackenridge Tract; Barbara Snowden Christen, Cass Gilbert and the Ideal of
the City Beautiful: City and Campus Plans, 1900-1916 (CUNY dissertation, 1997), 409.
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Preservation Plan for the University of Texas Forty Acres

Brackenridge’s proposal seems to have awakened an interest in the
university on the part of George Washington Littlefield, an Austin
banker who lived immediately north of the Forty Acres. Littlefield

was appointed a regent in 1911. He and Brackenridge shared a deep-
seated dislike for one another, at least part of which stemmed from
Littlefield’s dedication to the former Confederacy and Breckenridge’s
role as a northern-born Texan who had opposed secession, became a
Union officer, and made his fortune smuggling during the war. Shortly
after Littlefield’s appointment, Brackenridge resigned after 25 years as
a regent, but continued lobbying for his new campus, making a strong
convert of President Robert Vinson. In the military mobilization during
the First World War, and academic expansion afterward, temporary
buildings quickly filled the open ground on the campus, for the first
time making the Forty Acres feel small.

Littlefield died on November 10, 1920. He left $1 million to The
University of Texas, most of it on the condition of keeping the campus
in its current location. He donated his own land north of the Forty
Acres, together with funds to build a women’s dormitory there. Hours
before his death he added a gift of his own home, subject to a life estate
for his wife.X* One part of his bequest was intended for a triumphal
arch, which would eventually take a different form as the Littlefield
Fountain.

Brackenridge died just a few weeks later, on December 28. Despite
expectations, his diminished fortune did not allow him to leave a
bequest to offset Littlefield’s. President Vinson pursued anyway the
vision of relocating the university to the river tract, and the regents
voted in favor of the plan. But in the Texas Legislature the idea of
moving from the Forty Acres mutated into proposals to remove the
university from Austin. Austin residents, many of whom had supported
the riverfront move, quickly closed ranks to support staying at the
Forty Acres. In the end the Legislature appropriated $1,350,000 to
expand the existing campus, and the university began to purchase land
east and north of the Forty Acres. Gilbert’s 1914 plan was the last in
which the Forty Acres was the whole of the campus.

According to William J. Battle, head of the Faculty Building Committee
and former president of the university, ' Changes in the Board of
Regents brought a feeling that The University of Texas should have
a Texas architect.” UT did not renew Gilbert’s contract in 1922.
Gilbert had built just two buildings, yet his influence through those two
buildings was profound. Battle again: “'In the end his design for the
library ... fixed the style of the buildings in general and his campus
development plan has in essence been accepted by all the university’s

pg 20

4 Holland, in The Texas Book, 98.
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“Shackitecture” along Speedway, B Hall and present Gebauer
Hall in the background

The Forty Acres spent much of its history covered with
temporary buildings. They came in two varieties: the
“shacks” that were intended to be temporary, and the
early buildings that later planners did not intend to keep.

The first “Age of Shacks” (William J. Battle’s term)
lasted from 1911 to 1935, beginning with a temporary
structure for Domestic Economy (precursor to Home
Economics). The advent of World War I brought
additional temporary structures for military training, and
still more came in the 1920s before the Santa Rita oil
strike, when UT was expanding faster than its funding.
Battle explained their place on the campus: ‘' President
Mezes declared he wanted the shacks usable, indeed, but
so crude and unsightly that Texas would speedily become
ashamed of them and ... find money to replace them with
something better.”?

At the same time that UT began building its temporary
“shackitecture,” there were question marks hanging over
almost every piece of architecture, with the exception of
Gilbert’s new library, distinguished as the first building
that the university has consistently viewed as permanent.
Gilbert had to work around these other nearly new but
inconvenient buildings, but by 1933 Cret could say that

! Battle papers, box 4Q526, folder 3: Temporary Buildings, 1.

Photo: Austin History Center
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“some of the more permanent buildings could also be
considered as temporary, either on account of their
obsolescence, or their fire risk.””? The most conspicuous
example was Old Main, especially once the new library
loomed behind it. The attitude can be seen in the
alignment of Inner Campus Drive at B Hall, which was
deemed temporary and therefore left to project beyond
the curb into the travel lane — an alignment that persisted
for nearly twenty years before the building was removed.

After the Second World War, the GI Bill and the return
of veterans swelled UT’s enrollment from 7,000 in 1945
to 17,000 in 1946. This brought another generation of
temporary buildings, fifteen for classrooms, and more
than three hundred for residences. Most were two
stories tall, and many came from the same place as their
inhabitants: military camps that were demobilized after
the war.?

2 Cret, Report, 11. Splawn, University of Texas, 39: “*Law, Engineering and the
Woman’s Buildings ... are still considered as temporary.”

> Battle papers, box 4Q526, folder 3: Temporary Buildings, 2-3. Battle, “*A Concise
History,” 398.
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1935)

pg 18
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subsequent architects.”** Gilbert’s Education Building created a second
prototype, illustrating a broad vocabulary ranging from the high-style
formality of the limestone Library, to the more rustic and colorful brick
Education Building.t®

Lawrence Speck summarizes Cass Gilbert’s significance for The
University of Texas, even beyond architecture: “Gilbert helped the
university administration and regents make the leap from seeing their
institution as a small-town college to envisioning it as a sophisticated

institution ‘of the first class.””*’

2.3.4.The Herbert M. Greene years: 1922 - 1930

The regents appointed as the second University Architect Herbert

M. Greene (1871-1932) of Dallas. Greene was a graduate of the
University of Illinois, was considered the “dean of architects” in Texas,
and was the first Texan to be named a Fellow of the American Institute
of Architects. The university gave him a ten-year contract. He soon took
on a partner, Bruce La Roche, and in 1928 a second partner, George L.
Dahl.

The campus design team grew more complex still, as the university
created the additional position of Supervising Architect, naming Robert
Leon White, of the UT Architecture faculty. A second new position was
created for James M. White (no relation), Professor of Architecture at
the University of Illinois, who was named Consulting Architect with the
expectation that his role would mainly involve the plan of the newly-
expanded campus.

On the university side as well the team grew more complicated. The
regents in 1919 established the Faculty Building Committee. In 1920,
William J. Battle joined the committee, and in 1922 became its
chairman, a position he would hold until 1948. In 1924, the regents
significantly expanded the Committee’s role, changing it from advisory
to the principal liaison with the university’s architects.*®

Greene’s first building was the Biological Laboratories, authorized by

the regents in 1922 and completed in 1925. Greene followed Gilbert’s

lead in two important respects. First, he sited the building along the

north edge of the Forty Acres. He would have placed the building

exactly according to Gilbert’s plan, but William J. Battle led a

campaign to move it eastward in order to preserve the three mature

live oaks that have since been called the Battle Oaks. Still the building pg 23

15 Battle papers, box 4Q526, folder 3: Early Building Problems, cont’d, 2.

16 The choice of brick for the Education was at the insistence of William J. Battle, over Gilbert’s objection.
Christen dissertation, 405-07.

17 Lawrence Speck, “Campus Architecture: The Historic Decades,” in Holland, ed., The Texas Book, 128.
18 Reese, Paul Cret at Texas, 34.
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The design of the Forty Acres expresses regional
character both through its architectural style and through
adaptations to climate.

The architecture of the Forty Acres is often described
as “Spanish Mediterranean.” President Sidney Mezes

in 1909 asked Frederick Mann for a “'style in general
similar to that you have employed in the University
Methodist church. I have never known the proper name
for that style, and have myself thought of it vaguely

in terms of its places of origin along the shores of the
MediterLr]anean.”* Mezes soon urged the same model
to Cass Gilbert.? Gilbert saw his work in the context

of the region; he expected his UT buildings to “‘have

a most important influence on the architecture of the
Southwest.”? He called Battle Hall’s style “*modified
Spanish Renaissance.”* It was “naturally induced by
the Spanish influence in Texas,” he said, ‘and, since it
was originally developed in a country whose climate and
atmosphere is similar to that of Texas it is altogether
suitable to the local condition.””> Most important as
climate adaptation was the broad tile hipped roof with its
broad overhangs for shade. The choice of local limestone
rooted the campus literally in Central Texas, and the
bright warm colors and polychrome ornament suited the
sunny climate.

Herbert M. Greene, and especially Paul Cret, expanded
the architectural vocabulary of the Forty Acres, but they
maintained continuity with the regionally-appropriate
style set by Gilbert. Mark Lemmon maintained continuity
with Cret.

Climate-appropriate design, responding to heat, was a

deeper regional theme of the pre-air-conditioning campus.

In addition to commonplace energy adaptations of the
time — operable windows, transoms for ventilation and

! President S. E. Mezes to Frederick M. Mann, Feb. 15, 1909, CAH, Presidents
Records 1908 -, “Campus Architects.”

2 Christen dissertation, 390, 392.

> CG to SEM, second letter of April 27,1910. CGC. CGP-LB 2/09-5/10
(N-YHS); as cited in Christen dissertation.

4 University Record, quoted in Lawrence Speck, “*The University of Texas: Vision
and Ambition,” in Cass Gilbert, Life and Work, ed. Barbara S. Christen and
Steven Flanders (W. W. Norton, 2001), 55. Jay C. Henry, Architecture in Texas,
1895-1945 (University of Texas, 1993), 158: “the tile roof, eave bracketing,
glazed tile and ironwork allude to Spanish sources, but have none of the obvious
mannerisms of the Mission Revival.”

> University Record, quoted in Speck, in Cass Gilbert, Life and Work, 55.
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daylighting, wooden blinds, especially to block the western
sun — UT’s campus also incorporates adaptations at a
larger scale. Buildings were oriented East-West to avoid
blocking prevailing breezes (the Texas Union was an
exception, oriented to carry those breezes through the
dining hall).® For the same reason, the campus included
no enclosed quadrangles. “In Austin,” wrote Cret, “the
free circulation of the breeze seems to be possibly of
greater value than the shelter.””

The climate was reflected in wonderful relationships
between inside and outside. “In those days of no air-
conditioning,” recalled William J. Battle, “‘the only

way to make the heat of Austin tolerable was to have
high ceilings and plenty of large windows.”® People old
enough to have known Battle Hall before air conditioning
universally remember the experience of the Reading
Room with its great windows open. The Texas Union, in
addition to its cross-ventilating windows, had two floors
of open galleries facing its courtyard, shaded from the
afternoon sun. They overlooked a pool, which provided
evaporative cooling. Goldsmith’s courtyard likewise
includes a pool and faces east for afternoon shade, and
its narrow studio wings feature broad windows for light
and breezes. The front section of the Main Building, in

its original design as a library, included two open shaded
reading terraces. Air conditioning, and the sealing of
spaces that it made possible and sometimes required, has
added comfort especially in extremely hot weather, but it
also keeps us from experiencing today the extent to which
the Forty Acres environment was already well-tempered.®

Cret (like Gilbert before him) rendered not only the
buildings but the landscape too in a Mediterranean
style: terraces, palm trees, columnar cypress trees. The
terraces were built, but in plant materials, Battle and
Calhoun stepped in decisively in favor of a different

¢ Battle to Cret, Nov. 16, 1931, Battle Papers, Box 2K244, Folder ““Paul Cret
Correspondence, 1931"; Cret, Report, 6.

7 Cret, Report, 6.

8 Battle papers, box 4Q526, folder 3: Early Building Problems, 1.

? Air conditioning: FBAC in 1952 gave first priority to the Main Library. In
“Others Needed Badly”: Hogg Auditorium (Alcalde, Dec. 1952, 82). Small
libraries already air conditioned — Music and Mezes — were overcrowded in
the summer (Alcalde, Jan. 1953, 114). Hogg Auditorium air conditioning

was scheduled for January 1955 (Alcalde, Nov. 1954, 59)- Main library air
conditioning was moved to 1955-56 (not including the tower), with Main Building
offices 1956-57 (Alcalde, Nov. 1954, 58). Air conditioning was designed by
Zumwalt & Vinter, mechanical & refrigeration engineers, Dallas (Alcalde, Nov.
1954, 59).
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regional tradition, Quercus virginiana. Live oaks were

an icon of the American South, and with the Spanish-
themed architecture they helped make the campus both
South and Southwest. They would also, when mature, be
a welcome adaptation to the climate, extending shade
far beyond the sheltering soffits of buildings. Cret argued
against planting live oaks in front of the Main Building
lest they interfere with the central architectural effect
of the campus. Calhoun, with the support of landscape
architect S. Herbert Hare, insisted: "I am much in favor
of good architecture, and you have given us a lot of it,
but between looking at a good piece of architecture

and suffering day in and day out with heat, I will be
compelled to vote perhaps in favor of less architecture
and more comfort.””* In the end, Cret submitted: “The
climatic conditions of Austin dictate certain features
which might not be sought for their design merit
alonel.1""*!

The regionalism of design on the Forty Acres did not end
with the Modern era. Limestone Modernism provides
continuity, in Flawn and in the landscape walls of the
Perip and West Mall. Flawn’s original design was also

a model of climate-informed Modernism, with its deep
overhangs top and bottom, and masonry screen to
regulate direct sun.

1% Calhoun to Cret, Nov. 1937, Battle Papers.
! Cret to Calhoun, Nov. 22,1937, UT President’s Office Records, 1907-1968.
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Greene Laroche and Dahl buildings

began a linear row framing the north edge of the campus, as Gilbert
proposed. Second, Greene adapted the architectural vocabulary of
Gilbert’s Education Building, executing it on a more restricted budget
with lighter, more uniform brick and less ornament, and (thanks to
Battle) on a more difficult sloping site. The effect of both siting and
architectural design was to ensure continuity in the development of the
campus, despite the change in architects.

James M. White prepared a plan in 1923 that was the first to include
the expanded area of the campus, and located the stadium and Gregory
Gym. The most important question in planning the Forty Acres was how
and where to accommodate an expanded library. White first proposed a
large addition to the west of Gilbert’s library. Battle wanted the library
to have pride of place at the center of the campus, replacing Old Main.
In 1926, White drew a revised plan for the Forty Acres, departing
from the consensus before and since: the Library would move south,
eliminating the South Mall. There would be no building at the center of
the campus, but instead a large quadrangle with a campanile tower at
its center. This was not the right plan to satisfy Battle. Planning beyond
the Forty Acres began to define the historic area of the campus as a
core area for academic uses (and White defined allocation of specific
uses within the Forty Acres, such as the science row along the north

23
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edge). White also proposed an East Mall wider than the West Mall,
setting it up as the main axis in light of the eastward expansion of the
campus. This geometry is reflected in the footprint of Garrison Hall,
which does not symmetrically face Battle Hall but instead turns the
corner toward this intended wider East Mall.

Garrison was Greene’s second building, and the first to be planned after
the beginning of West Texas oil royalties that provided the financial
basis for expansion of the campus. On Biology, Greene began a motif of
decorative elements invoking Texas history and culture. Garrison, built
for the Departments of History and Social Sciences, continued this
motif with medallions of Texas cattle brands.

Off the Forty Acres, Greene LaRoche and Dahl designed Memorial
Stadium (1926), Littlefield Dormitory (1927), Gregory Gym (1930),
and Anna Hiss Gym (1931). The Chemistry Building (1931, now
Welch Hall) continued the sciences row along Twenty-fourth Street,
establishing the northeast corner of the Forty Acres with a long bar
of a building, longer even than Old Main. The College of Business
Administration (1932, now Waggener Hall) began the row that was to
frame the eastern edge of the Forty Acres.

H. M. Greene took ill in 1930 and died early in 1932. His partners
completed the last year of the firm’s contract. By this time Greene's
successor was already at hand.

2.3.5.The Paul Cret years: 1930 — 1942

UT engaged Paul Cret (1876-1945) as Consulting Architect in

1930, primarily to prepare a new campus plan. Cret was French-
born and educated at the Ecole des Beaux-Arts in Lyons, professor of
architecture at the University of Pennsylvania, and a nationally-known
architect in the U.S. In 1931, the Texas Legislature finally allowed
the university to borrow against future income. Lest the legislators
change their minds, the regents borrowed $4 million for ten buildings,
and contracted with Cret to design all ten. This was an extraordinary
commission for a single architect. It permitted an unusual
comprehensiveness of designing spaces by designing groups of buildings,
and Cret took full advantage of the opportunity. It also allowed him to
define a full range of architectural vocabulary.

Main Building in 1939

Cret’s first and most important design was for a new main library,
today the Main Building. He produced his first drawings for this
building even before he was commissioned to design it; they were
studies as part of his campus plan. Cret solved the puzzle of how to
create a vast library as a new centerpiece for the campus, while living
within funding constraints and avoiding the controversy of demolishing
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Paul Cret’s ten buildings commissioned in 1931

0ld Main: the library would be built in three phases. The first would be
built not on the site of Old Main, but north of it, demolishing only the
auditorium that had stood vacant and unused since 1915. A new front
would replace Old Main at some unspecified date in the future. An
extension farther to the north would increase shelving capacity when
that became necessary. Among Cret’s alternatives were some with
library stacks arranged in a tower of up to eleven levels. The regents
seized upon this scheme as the centerpiece that the campus needed, and
the design grew to 28 stories.

The library core was completed in 1933, behind Old Main. With the
advent of the New Deal, additional funds became available far sooner
than expected and the second phase of the building, demolishing Old
Main and constructing the tower, could begin almost immediately.

At the same time, the regents and administration sought to house
themselves in the new building, and diverted much of the program from
library uses. The whole structure was completed in 1937, with the Main
Building establishing a center in the plan of the campus, Forty Acres
and beyond, and the tower becoming a citywide icon.

25
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.

The new main library, Main Plaza, and South Mall begin to take shape around Old Main c. 1933

Cret started with the style that Greene adapted from Gilbert, and put
his own stamp on it. He returned to Gilbert’s two-tiered hierarchy, of
brick in combination with stone for ordinary buildings, and stone for
more prominent structures. He added a third level, which he called
the “New Classicism,” for the most monumental buildings, using
simplified classical details in symmetrical Beaux-Arts compositions.
Cret’s building masses were more complex, his facade compositions
less regular, conveying grandness yet informality. He created two-
dimensional compositions within the planes of stone fagades by
alternating Cordova Cream and Cordova Shell Limestone. The cream
could be worked as fine ornament or used as smooth frames; the
shell limestone was used in random ashlar planes that appear darker
because of the stone’s texture. Along with these innovations he
continued elements of the earlier vocabulary, including low hipped roofs
of red tile, decorative overhanging eaves with brackets and painted
soffits, and wrought-iron balconies and grille work.
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Hogg Memorial Auditorium, Women’s Building in background

Cret organized the Architecture Building (1933, now Goldsmith Hall)
with two skinny wings of sunlit studios, and a loggia completing the
enclosure of a courtyard, introducing a new massing appropriate to
the Mediterranean vocabulary of the campus. Similarly, the Home
Economics Building (1933, now Mary C. Gearing Hall), directly north
of the Forty Acres on the axis of the North Mall, also framed a little
courtyard, creating a new, intimate level in the hierarchy of spaces that
made up the campus.

The Texas Union building, a dining and social center for students, was
constructed at the same time as the Architecture Building, immediately
north of it. In plan it was L-shaped, aligning with Architecture to
establish the western front of the campus facing Guadalupe. The
shorter wings of the two buildings established the dimensions of

West Mall, and the placement of both main entrances on the mall
reinforced its animated character, already established by its role as the

2
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West Mall c. 1940

main streetcar entrance to the campus, facing its main commercial
district. At the street end of West Mall, a tower at the corner of the
Architecture Building faced a tower on the Union, not symmetrical

but exquisitely balanced, creating an architectural gateway. Larry
Speck writes that “‘together they created a totally new architectural
character very different from Cass Gilbert’s seminal landmarks nearby.
The simple stereometric volumes, palazzo compositional format, and
materials treatments of Battle Hall and Sutton Hall were rejected in
favor of a fresh but compatible new expression. These were looser, more
dynamic buildings than their predecessors.”**

Next north of the Union, and part of the same building program, was
the Auditorium (1933, now Hogg Auditorium). It was oriented east-
west, intended to frame a quadrangle with the Union Building. But the
quad was still occupied by the Woman’s Building of 1904, one of those
early structures treated as temporary; its L-shaped mass stood closer
to the Union than Cret intended for an eventual replacement, creating
not a quadrangle but more of an intimate courtyard. The effect was
heightened by an ornamental pool and by the open galleries on two
floors of the Union, offering a breeze and a social overflow to the dining
hall and the ballroom above.

At the north end of the Forty Acres, the Physics Building (1933,

now Painter Hall) completed the row of science buildings between
Biology and Chemistry. A tower at its western end matched the height
of Greene’s Biology Labs, creating a northern axial gateway. East of
the new Library, Cret’s Geology Building (1933, now Will C. Hogg
Hall) faced Greene’s Garrison Hall and marked the beginning of the
East Mall (the mall was immediately truncated, for the time being, by
Brackenridge Hall).

Cret began work in 1930 with the campus plan as his main task;
starting the next year he developed the plan implicitly through his
designs for the simultaneous construction of ten buildings. At the same
time, UT hired its first landscape architects, Hare & Hare of Kansas
City, to work with Cret designing the grading, paving and planting of the
spaces he was creating. William Calhoun, the university’s comptroller
and thus master of its buildings and grounds, had already begun in
1925 to plant live oaks, the most important landscape decision for
the future campus. In 1933, as Cret’s initial wave of buildings were
nearing completion, he returned to the task of completing an explicit
statement of his plan. He submitted a large, rendered site plan and
aerial rendering, together with an explanatory report.

Cret accepted the skeleton proposed by Gilbert and fleshed out by
Greene. But he adjusted everywhere, with a more subtle understanding
of the definition of space by buildings, and the nuances of slope. His
most important work of large-scale design was to re-shape the as-yet-

19 Speck, Texas Book, 136.
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Paul Cret rendering

unbuilt South Mall. Gilbert’s placement of Battle Hall delineated a
460-foot wide plaza in front of the Main Building, realized with the
construction of Garrison Hall. Green LaRoche and Dahl planned to
continue that width south to Twenty-first Street, “far too wide for the
length of the mall to be of any architectural value,” wrote Cret.?° And
the slope of the ground would have made awkward the north-south
buildings that Greene proposed for enclosing the mall, or the arcades
that Gilbert had drawn in the same position. Cret narrowed the width to
225 feet. He bounded the space with two rows of three buildings each,
aligned perpendicular to the mall, their narrow ends facing one another
as pavilions stepping up the hill.

And then, like Pope Sixtus laying out the lines of Baroque Rome

with simple obelisks, Cret made the South Mall real without building
a single building, by a careful redistribution of statuary. George

W. Littlefield had proposed to donate, as a gateway to the campus,

a triumphal arch. During Littlefield’s lifetime he was persuaded

that a monument to martial victory, facing the state capitol, might

be misinterpreted. Pompeo Coppini, sculptor of the Confederate
Monument on the grounds of the capitol, proposed instead an elaborate
allegorical fountain celebrating American victory in the First World
War, surrounded by historical figures of Texas, Confederate, and U.S.
history, intended as a tableau of national reconciliation. Cret moved
the sculptures so that instead of making a single composition at the
southern gateway to the campus, they would define the space of a new,
narrower South Mall.

Cret’s campus plan emphasized the predictably unpredictable demands
that would arise from differential growth and needs of various
departments. He therefore called for an adaptable plan that would seek
not rigid symmetry but balance, and would work equally well as a loose
composition when the first buildings were built, and later as they grew

20 paul Cret, Report Accompanying the General Plan of Development (Jan. 1933), CAH, 9.
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through additions, tightening the definition of spaces. His drawings
indicate the potential for future additions, such as the wings that were
in fact built on Painter and Welch from 1959 to 1976. In this sense
Cret’s plan governed the growth of the Forty Acres for decades beyond
his work here.

The expanding campus became one of the most important factors

in planning the still modest-sized city around it. San Jacinto Street,
originally called “*Waller Creek Boulevard,” was extended north from
the downtown grid so that Speedway could be closed to through traffic,
uniting the Forty Acres with the growing eastern extension of the
campus.

Cret was diagnosed with cancer and underwent surgery in 1939. He
died in 1945. One of his last UT projects was the Music Building
(1942, now Homer Rainey Hall), the first of the “Primary Group” (in
Cret’s words — more familiarly the “six-pack’). The Music Building
created one side of the architectural frame for the Littlefield Fountain,
beginning to complete the South Mall.

31

Aerial photo, c. 1940. The South Mall is laid out, as yet without any of the six-pack buildings
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Rainey Hall, 1942

O

Cret’s diagram of flexible future growth of the sciences row

2.3.6. The Post-War years

After the Second World War, returning GIs swelled enrollments, and
in 1947 they were accommodated by a new wave of fifteen temporary
buildings — including two-story dormitories called “ Hutments.”"?*

The following year, UT issued $10 million in bonds for construction.
The Regents turned again to a Texan, Mark Lemmon of Dallas,

as Consulting Architect.?? On the Forty Acres, Lemmon designed

the eastern side of the six-pack: Batts, Mezes and Benedict Halls,
completed in 1952. These buildings brought a protest from the
Architecture students, who felt the time had arrived for a modernist
campus, but Lemmon understood his charge as executing Cret’s plan,
and he faithfully followed the lead of the Music Building. Parlin, at
the northwest corner of the group, was completed in 1956, the end of
Lemmon’s term as consulting architect. By this time the architectural
expression of the core of the campus was largely complete.

A new campus plan was prepared in the late 1950s by Austin
architectural firms Jessen, Jessen, Milhouse and Greeven, and Page
Southerland Page. This plan dealt mainly with the major expansion of
the campus to the east, and not so much with the Forty Acres.

In the 1960s, the demographic tsunami of Baby Boomers arrived on
American campuses. UT Austin’s enrollment doubled from 19,500
in the fall of 1960 to 39,000 ten years later. In 1963, Gov. John
Connolly appointed Frank C. Erwin to the Board of Regents, where

21 Battle papers, box 4Q526, “*Support of the University,” 10-11.
22 Richard R. Brettell & Willis Cecil Winters, Crafting traditions : the architecture of Mark Lemmon (SMU
Press, 2005), 74. Battle papers, box 4Q526, folder 3: Early Building Problems, cont’d.
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All of Paul Cret’s UT Austin buildings

he served until 1975, chairing the board from 1966 to 1971. Erwin
centralized power in himself, and exercised it to remove faculty and
administrators, and to suppress student dissent. He took a personal
interest in building projects, at a time when the university did more of
them than ever before. Erwin’s projects were characterized by bigness —
the Special Events Center (now the Erwin Center), with 20,000 seats,
was announced at a time when the largest hall on campus was the
Hogg Auditorium, seating 1275. Almost all of the Erwin-era projects
were east, or north or south of the Forty Acres. The exception is the
Humanities Research Center (1972, now Harry Ransom Center).

Harry Huntt Ransom, as Provost in the 1950s and then as President
and Chancellor, built UT’s special collections to create a great research
library “from near scratch,” in the words of one biographer.?*> “Texas,”
observed the London Observer in 1965, *has become the world’s
greatest repository of source material in twentieth-century British and

2 Harold Billings, “ The Woman Who Ran Ransom’s University,” in The Texas Book, 24.
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American literature.””?* Ransom’s work resulted in two of the biggest
buildings on the Forty Acres: one was the massive HRC, completed in
1972 to hold those special collections; in Ransom’s own description it
aspired to be “the Bibliotheque Nationale of the only state in the union
that started out as an independent nation.””?> The other, earlier building
was the Undergraduate Library of 1963 (now Flawn Academic
Center), one of the first university libraries designed with open stacks
to support what Ransom called “'do-it-yourself’ education which gets
students acquainted with books firsthand.’’?6

The Undergraduate Library completed the fifty-year architectural
articulation of West Mall. The HRC did not so clearly follow Cret’s
plan, but did in its way enclose a Southwest Quadrangle. At the
Southeast side of the Forty Acres, the Business School filled out the
western side of Speedway in 1962. Its two large connected buildings
generally followed Cret’s plan, in a style that can be seen as a modern
reinterpretation of the Gilbert-Greene-Cret standard: regular punched
windows in orange-buff brick walls, red tile invoking the historic
roofs, and terra cotta ornamental panels that reflected the soffits

and ornaments of nearby Waggener and Garrison Halls. The 1976
addition of the Graduate School of Business made the most radical
departure from plan anywhere on the Forty Acres, introducing a great
parallelogram of forty-five-degree angles.

The rest of the changes of the past half-century were largely infill
within the outlines laid out by Paul Cret. Calhoun Hall completed the
six-pack. Similarly, the nearby West Mall Building directly implemented
Cret’s plan and continued his architectural style in a simplified way.
The Computation Center was conceived as an expansion of the Main
Terrace to give the East Mall a terminus, though its effect was to
compromise the space between Garrison and Will C. Hogg. The largest
additions were to Painter and Welch, expanding the sciences row
generally as Cret himself had sketched in plan. The first Welch addition
in 1961 (“Welch B”) was skillfully detailed to take its materials and
lines from the 1931 original while adding lively modern motifs. By the
time of the Goldsmith addition in 1983, the university returned to a
sympathetic architectural vocabulary, not as a perfunctory obligation
but a celebration of Cret’s earlier work.

All this infill exhausted the undeveloped sites on the Forty Acres and
moved on to demolition of many of the earlier structures that preceded
the Gilbert and Cret master plans. B Hall was razed in 1952. The
Woman’s Building suffered a fire in 1959, and was demolished to

24 |ee Minoff, The London Observer, Feb. 14, 1965, quoted in Billings, The Texas Book, 28.
25 Texas Quarterly, Winter 1958, quoted in Alcalde, Sept-Oct. 2003, 30.
260Nl calde; 0ct 1959/H138
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create the site for the Undergraduate Library. Pearce Hall, the old Law
School, fell in 1972 to clear room for the Graduate School of Business.
Of the pre-Gilbert buildings, only the 1904 Engineering Building (now
Gebauer Hall) remains.

While new construction filled in the building footprint of the Forty
Acres, it made smaller, more enclosed exterior spaces at the same time
that it intensified their use. The West Mall, redesigned in 1969 as a
paved pedestrian boulevard with limestone benches, is one of the most
intensely used urban spaces in a now-large city. Throughout the campus,
outdoor rooms increasingly have hardscape floors. They also have green
ceilings, in the mature canopy of live oaks and other trees.

Larry Speck describes the significance of the campus to the university:

The power, prestige, and dignity embodied in UT buildings when the
institution was still fledgling predicted its future. The campus felt big
and strong before it actually was. The environment of the university set
a benchmark that the institution grew to achieve over time. Generations
of prospective students have looked up the South Mall toward the Main
Building and have sensed an ambition and aspiration that matched their
own.?”

2.4. Preservation in Texas and at UT

Texans have always valued Texas heritage, and have long taken steps

to maintain the state’s built heritage. The 1876 state constitution

that directed creation of The University of Texas also empowered the
Legislature to “*make appropriations for preserving and perpetuating
memorials of the history of Texas.””?® The successful campaign to
preserve the Alamo, beginning soon afterward, was among the earliest
and most significant such efforts in the U.S. As elsewhere, women led
the early preservation movement in Texas, through the Daughters of the
Republic of Texas, among others. The San Antonio Conservation Society
and the Galveston Historical Foundation were two of the earliest local
preservation NGOs in the U.S., and they remain among the largest and
strongest. The State of Texas in 1917 preserved the antebellum Texas
Land Office as a museum. The Texas Centennial Commission in 1936
began a statewide preservation program, and in 1953 the precursor of
the Texas Historical Commission was founded. Texans continue working
to preserve the state’s modern heritage, for example in ongoing efforts
to catalog and care for the Johnson Space Center.

27 Speck, in The Texas Book, 138.
28 Charles Hall Page & Associates, Austin Historic Preservation Plan (1981), 19.
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Locally in Austin, Clara Driscoll (“the Savior of the Alamo”), helped
preserve sculptor Elisabet Ney’s studio after her death in 1907. The
Austin Woman’s Club in 1929 began the project of preserving the
North-Evans Chateau. UT Architecture Professor Samuel Gideon aided
in successful efforts to preserve the French Legation and the O. Henry
House. In 1953 the Austin Heritage Society was founded.??

By contrast, The University of Texas spent much of the twentieth
century in an anti-preservationist posture, in its drive to remake the
Forty Acres. In effect there was a consensus that the university’s first
buildings constituted not an architectural heritage but a false start.
The heritage lay instead in the vision of Gilbert and Cret, the growing
set of buildings that expressed it, and the growing live oaks planted by
Calhoun.

There were some preservationist stirrings, especially with respect to Old
Main. William Battle hesitated to adopt Cret’s proposal for replacing
the building, which he feared might “outrage public sentiment.”>°
Public sentiment was indeed aroused, both when the plan was proposed
and then again when the demolition was imminent.>* Some ex-students
tried to organize the reconstruction of Old Main’s tower on another
site; in the end its bricks and stones were incorporated into a number of
new buildings.>? B Hall also produced great sentimental attachments,
but they were expressed more strongly when it was closed as a dorm in
1926, rather than at its demolition in 1952.>

Much preservation activism at UT, as elsewhere in Austin, has focused
not on buildings but trees. The successful fight to save the Battle

Oaks was a milestone: the first time a beloved feature of the campus
was definitively marked for preservation. Shortly afterward, Austin
residents began a successful campaign to preserve the Treaty Oak
west of downtown. Decades later, the October, 1969, “‘Battle of Waller
Creek,” one of Frank Erwin’s most conspicuous conflicts, was over
the destruction of mature pecans and elms along San Jacinto Street
in order to expand the stadium. The students who sat in the trees
trying to preserve them lost that fight, but it helped bring to an end
Erwin’s reign. More recently, UT has added the position of Campus
Urban Forester to care for its live oak legacy (as well as its hackberry
heritage).

In recent decades, UT has established a record of stewardship and
preservation for buildings as well as trees. The Heritage Society of
Austin gave the university an award for restoration of the Littlefield
Home in 1966, and another in 1986 for restoration of the Little

29 page, Austin Historic Preservation Plan, 19-23.

30 | etter April 22, 1930, Battle Papers (2k244), 1.

51 Dallas News editorial, Dec. 1, 1931 (CAH); Reese, Paul Cret at Texas, 54; Jeffrey Kerr, Austin, Texas Then and
Now (Austin, 2004), 221.

32 Kerr, Austin Then and Now, 221.

33 David Dettmer, “When the Poor Boys Ruled the Campus: A Requiem for B. Hall,” in The Texas Book, 126.

36



Campus. On the Forty Acres, the 1983 wing of Goldsmith Hall was a
model of respectful addition (and won awards from the Texas Society
of Architects and the American Institute of Architects Dallas chpater,
as well as the Heritage Society). The decision to rehabilitate rather
than demolish the old Engineering Building — now Gebauer Hall — saved
the one remaining building on the Forty Acres that preceded Cass
Gilbert. That project earned another Heritage Society award in 2001,
and the most recent, in 2008, was for the restoration of Garrison Hall,
including reconditioning its original wooden window sashes.

With these recent projects, UT is moving to the forefront of best
practices in preservation. Planning is now under way for restoration of
Battle Hall, one of the architectural masterpieces of the university and
the nation. Over the previous century UT showed how to make a great
campus; over the next it will show how to keep it.

37
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This chapter evaluates the historic resources of the Forty Acres
according to their eligibility for the National Register of Historic
Places.

Battle Hall is the only building on the Forty Acres that is currently
listed on the National Register.! The Main Building has been officially
determined eligible for the National Register.

The first section of this chapter evaluates the Forty Acres as a whole
as a district. The next section discusses subdistricts. These subdistricts
are informally defined and overlap one another; the purpose is to
describe the evolution of major spaces and building groups at a scale
small enough for specificity. The third section lists major contributing
features of the Forty Acres district, mainly buildings but also including
landscape features such as the Battle Oaks, Littlefield Fountain and the
Biology Ponds. The final section discusses landscape systems, which are
composed of repetitive features too numerous to be exhaustively listed
(such as trees or lighting).

3.1.The Forty Acres district

3.1.1. Significance criteria

AL A.That are associated with events that have made a
significant contribution to the broad patterns of our history;

The University of Texas at Austin is of national and international
significance in higher education, as a preeminent modern public
research university. The Forty Acres was its original campus, the entire
campus for the first four decades of its history. Within the state of

1 No.70000763, listed August 25, 1970.
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Texas, the significance of both the university and the Forty Acres are
even more fundamental: from the days of the Republic, Texans sought
an eminent institution of higher education, expressed in the state
constitution even before UT was established, as “*a university of the
first class, to be ... styled ‘The University of Texas.””” The Forty Acres
site was set aside for the future university from the city’s beginnings,
and its presence helped establish the university in Austin.

o B. That are associated with the lives of persons significant in
our past;

We have not called out significance for association with historic
persons, not because there are no such associations but because there
are so many. It is in the nature of the educational significance of the
campus (under criterion A) that it is associated with hundreds of
important faculty, administrators and others, and that it has played

an important role in the lives of many thousands of former students,
among whom are many of the significant historical figures of Texas and
the world.

A short list would include William James Battle, Frank Erwin, Gov.
Oran M. Roberts, regents G. W. Brackenridge and G. W. Littlefield,
Harry Huntt Ransom, Walter Prescott Webb, J. Frank Dobie, Vartan
Gregorian, Roger Shattuck and John Silber. Dr. Herman Mueller won a
Nobel Prize in 1946 for work that he carried out in a basement lab in
the Biology building. To list just one ex-student, Walter Cronkite began
his broadcasting career in a studio in Gebauer.

At the scale of the whole campus or the Forty Acres, each of these
individuals was a tributary to the overall significance of the institution.
If buildings are evaluated individually there may be cases where a
significant individual does help define the significance of the building,
and the association of that individual with individual spaces may be
important.

A C.That embody the distinctive characteristics of a type,
period, or method of construction, or that represent the work of
a master, or that possess high artistic values, or that represent a
significant and distinguishable entity whose components may lack
individual distinction;

The University of Texas Forty Acres is a nationally-significant example
of Beaux-Arts campus planning, one of the largest, most coherent and
most distinctive in the country. The plan of the campus is primarily

the work of Cass Gilbert and Paul Cret. Landscape architects Sidney
J. Hare and S. Herbert Hare (respectively father and son), architect
Herbert M. Green and sculptor Pompeo Coppini each contributed
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works of high artistic value. The value of the campus design comes not
merely from the individual contributions of these masters, but from
the fact that they each joined in a collaboration that spanned many
decades.

D. That have yielded, or may be likely to yield, information
important in prehistory or history.

The Forty Acres is not known to include significant prehistoric sites.
Archaeological materials from the historic period likely do not add
significantly to the archival record.

3.1.2. Period of significance: 1898 — 1962

The period of significance begins in 1898, based on the origin of the
Peripatos walk as the oldest remaining significant landscape feature.
The 1898 walks remain in alignment only, but their evolution for more
than a century has been marked by continuity. Earthen walks were
paved, a double allee of hackberries planted and then replaced by live
oaks. These changes did not take place in any sudden transformation
but gradually, one piece at a time.2

The end of the period of significance is set arbitrarily at 1962, fifty
years ago. The University of Texas Forty Acres is in continuing use
and its significance continues to the present, so the end of its period
of significance will always be based on administrative rather than
historical considerations.

The period of significance does not create an arbitrary cut-off of
1962. Buildings and features contribute if they completed ensembles
conceived and begun during the period of significance (as Calhoun
Hall in 1966 completed the “'six-pack’ group). Modern structures less
than 50 years old may contribute without being held to the criterion
of “exceptional significance’” that would apply for eligibility as an
individual property.

2 No.70000763, listed August 25, 1970.
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Forty Acres boundary

3.1.3. Boundary

For the purpose of this report, the boundary of the eligible district
encompasses the complete square of the Forty Acres. The Forty

Acres is the original extent of the UT campus.? Its geographical and
architectural clarity and consistency make it an identifiable unit. The
Forty Acres is a management area of the campus, designated under the
current Master Plan as a conservation area. It was the study area for
the Campus Preservation Plan funded by the Getty Foundation.

A more comprehensive consideration of the historic UT campus would
(and should) include its extension to the east and north beginning in the
1920s and the University Avenue area, extending south and associated
with it as urban design (though it is not clear whether an expanded
campus district should still be called the Forty Acres). Meanwhile, the
original Forty Acres is an identifiable and logical starting point.

3 Recognition by authorities: Paul V. Turner, Campus: An American Planning Tradition (MIT, 1984).
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The boundary includes the complete Forty Acres, curb to curb from
21st to 24th streets and Guadalupe to Speedway. The northeast

corner is occupied by a contributing building, the 1931 Chemistry
Building (now Welch Hall). The northwest corner is a grove of live
oaks, a contributing landscape feature centered on the Battle Oaks.
The southeast and southwest corners are each occupied by buildings
less than 50 years old. At the south edges, the argument for the full
Forty Acre square is primarily a landscape argument — the “ Peripatos”’
perimeter walks are a significant landscape feature that retain integrity
(some places better than others, but on the whole yes). Thus the new
additions such as the Harry Ransom Center and the College of Business
Administration are contained within a frame of historic landscape.

3.1.4. Integrity

To be eligible for the National Register of Historic Places, a district
must not only possess significance, it also must retain integrity, meaning
that the physical resources must be in a condition such that their
significance continues to be legible.

The Forty Acres as a whole retains a high degree of integrity. All
buildings constructed since the 1910 Gilbert Plan remain. Nearly all
buildings constructed since the period of significance have fit into the
general outlines of the Cret Plan, sometimes very faithfully (completion
of the South Mall six-pack, West Mall Building), sometimes with a
degree of elasticity (Flawn), sometimes stretching the envelope (Harry
Ransom Center, Graduate School of Business Building). Some existing
buildings and spaces have been adapted to new UT uses. Cret explicitly
intended that his plan be elastic, to accommodate the ebb and flow of
university uses, unpredictable over the long term.

Landscape changes for the most part have been sympathetic and
evolutionary.
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Subdistricts of the Forty Acres

3.2. Subdistrict descriptions

3.2.1. South Mall (including Main Building plaza)

The South Mall is the core of the design of UT’s campus. In Paul
Cret’s plan, this was the “primary group’ of the campus: it would be
“the image carried in our memory when we think of the place.”* It was
the only part of the campus that he articulated with rigorous symmetry.
South Mall is bounded and defined by the “'six-pack’: Rainey, Calhoun
and Parlin on the West, facing Benedict, Mezes and Batts on the East.
The Mall itself, and its paired Live Oak allees, was laid out and planted
years before the first of the six-pack buildings. The Mall, plaza, Main
Building entrance, and Tower complete the axis that connects the

campus with the State Capitol.

4 The beginning of the period of significance is a somewhat artificial question, since expanded district boundaries
would include the Littlefield House, setting a firm early date of 1893.
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Main Building Plaza

The Main Building Plaza is the central space to which the South Mall
serves as an approach. This formal court was generated over time,
beginning with the position and style of Cass Gilbert’s Library (now
Battle Hall). Garrison Hall was the second piece (not symmetrical
because it reflected James M. White’s proposal for a wider East Mall).
With Old Main, these three suggested a space, but in the 1920s it was
still the head of a broad sloping lawn. The Main Plaza was completed
with the construction of its terrace and stairs, at the same time as the
front section of the new Main Building. Twenty years later, Batts and
Parlin Halls completed the definition of the space.

The six-pack is Cret’s resolution of the site’s slope within the most
formal and symmetrical part of the campus design. Three pairs

of fagades face one another, defining two pairs of courtyards; the
courtyards allow the change of grade to be taken up gracefully. All four
courtyards are lower than the grade of South Mall, contributing both
to their own intimacy and to the formality of the mall. Constructing
the six main buildings took from 1942 (Homer Rainey Hall) to 1967
(Calhoun Hall, next door). The last of the hyphens currently joining

the six, between Benedict and Mezes, was completed in 2004. The
whole ensemble, constructed over more than 60 years, maintained a
consistent vocabulary of form, material and detail, while permitting
variety of interpretations and adaptations to various uses. The mature
oak allees define the core space of the mall, and as they matured, made
it an exquisite balance of built and natural form.
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South Mall

BEN-MEZ hyphen under construction
in 2004

Littlefield Fountain is one of the “principal aspects’ of the plan, in
Cret’s words. Some sort of monumental entry feature was in the

works at least from 1918, originating in G. W. Littlefield’s proposed
arch. Pompeo Coppini convinced him to substitute a fountain, with

a World War I memorial as well as statues of American historical
figures, meant to signify the reconciliation between Littlefield’s revered
Confederacy and the twentieth-century nation. The sculptures were well
underway by 1930, but Paul Cret still had the opportunity to determine
how they would alight in the landscape: in his words,

a fundamental revision of the proposed Littlefield Memorial which instead
of a small composition, overcrowded with features and designed without
regard for its surroundings, was expanded so as to form an entrance to the
campus. The portrait statuary was separated from the allegorical figures,
as the juxtaposition of these two types was objectionable on account of the
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difference in scale, and the contrast of the classicism of certain figures with
the realism of the other. The portrait statues selected by the donor gain in
prominence when provided with an individual setting instead of being used
as accessories to a fountain design.®

Cret compressed Coppini’s long pool into a more compact landscape
vestibule, and deployed the smaller statues to define his narrower
South Mall space, in advance of any buildings or trees. The balustraded
plinths, on which sit Rainey and Benedict Halls, were constructed
before the buildings — they are features of the mall rather than
appurtenances of the buildings.

Buildings adjacent to the South Mall:
Main Building and Tower (MAI)
Battle Hall (BTL)

Garrison Hall (GAR)

Parlin Hall (PAR)

Calhoun Hall (CAL)

Homer Rainey Hall (HRH)
Batts Hall (BAT)

Mezes Hall (MEZ)

Benedict Hall (BEN)

Littlefield Fountain

3.2.2. West Mall

West Mall West Mall has always been the informal, familiar entrance
to the campus, dating from the beginning of the university, when the
streetcar from downtown Austin stopped at the Guadalupe Street
side of the Forty Acres. During the first few years, when only the first
third of Old Main was completed, the building’s main entrance was its
western entrance, facing Guadalupe.

The geometry of the West Mall was suggested by the siting of Gilbert’s
Library, but not fully defined until Architecture and the Union rose
across from one another. These two buildings created an architectural
gateway, and also reinforced the active character of the space, by
orienting each of their entrances toward West Mall.

Through the 1960s, it was still literally a “*mall” in the original sense
of that word, a linear lawn. It opened to a broad lawn on the north,
between Main and the Woman’s Building, and a landscaped space

to the south between Battle and Goldsmith. The West Mall Building
and the Undergraduate Library, in 1962 and 1963, completed its
architectural enclosure. The sidewalks were widened in 1969. Its

5 Reserved in the Austin plan of 1839, and (more relevant) the extent of the original Cass Gilbert plan of 1910,

and of all subsequent campus development under Gilbert.
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West Mall, 1943

present physical form dates from 1975, when planters replaced the
lawn. This was perceived as an effort to deny a venue for student
protests, and the design was itself protested as the “Erwin Highway.”
But it was also part of the formalization of the campus design as UT
grew to 50,000 students and an intensity of use that required more
hard surfaces.

West Mall has long been a student activity center of the campus

— rallies, speeches and performances, student political and social
organizing happen here. Its character is one of density and intensity.
Addition of the Cesar Chavez statue in 2008 reinforces the West Mall’s
identity as a locus of political activism.
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West Mall

Buildings adjacent to the West Mall:
Texas Union Building (UNB)

Flawn Academic Center (FAC)
Main Building and Tower (MAI)
West Mall Office Building (WMB)
Battle Hall (BTL)

Goldsmith Hall (GOL)

3.2.3. East Mall

The East Mall has been described as the new main axis of the campus,
ever since UT’s eastward expansion beginning in the 1920s, and
especially since the 1970s when the LBJ Library and LBJ School
provided an eastern terminus. The East Mall links the Forty Acres

hill of the Main Building and Tower with the eastern hill of the LBJ
Library. Garrison Hall’s L-plan, and the position of its north face, are
remnants of J. M. White’s plan to reorient the campus to an east-west
axis and design this space to its new larger scale.

The East Mall of Gilbert’s plan, and White’s and Cret’s, remained
mainly an unrealized intention until the 1950s, because B Hall blocked
it. B Hall’s demolition in 1952 opened the long axis to view, but the
Forty Acres end of it was quickly compromised by the Computation
Center — intended as an East Mall equivalent of the South Mall’s
Main plaza, but not so successful. The careful relationship of Garrison
and Geology had been created in anticipation of B Hall’s removal;
unfortunately B Hall’s presence kept the relationship from being
appreciated enough for it to be maintained.
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East Mall

Buildings adjacent to the East Mall:
Main Building and Tower (MAI)
Geology (Will C. Hogg) (WCH)
Welch Hall (WEL)

Waggoner Hall (WAG)

Garrison Hall (GAR)

Computation Center (COM)

3.2.4. Southwest quadrant

Gilbert planned a broad enclosed quadrangle here. His renderings of
the Education Building (now Sutton Hall) include pergolas linking it
to future neighbors. For decades this remained a raw space — Sutton
faced first an open field, then a field bounded on the east by first one,
then two and three of the six-pack. Temporary buildings remained into
the 1950s. A free-form parking lot in the 1960s took advantage of the

unclaimed space.

Harry Ransom Center was an opportunistic resolution — lots of space
was available, and this use needed lots of space. HRC is all out of scale
to the quadrangle, but it does provide enclosure. HRC transforms the
intentions — its terrace is not in the spirit of a quadrangle, but instead
leaves the eastern edge of the space as a sloping walk related to the
sloping three buildings of the six-pack; it appropriates most of the
space as a level plinth, allowing HRC to define its own topography.
Nonetheless the terrace is a significant modernist landscape, and it is
successful — an outdoor room at the new scale of the building, both
capacious and intimate because of its live oak canopy.
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On its south side, the quadrangle is enclosed only by the Peripatos
walk and walls, and the heterogeneous urban fabric across Twenty-
first Street. Depending on one’s assessment of the success of the HRC
terrace and quadrangle, this may be one of the few places on the Forty
Acres where the century-old campus plan still leaves a possible new
building site.
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Southwest Quadrant

Buildings in the Southwest quadrant:
Goldsmith Hall (GOL)

West Mall Office Building (WM B)
Battle Hall (BTL)

Sutton Hall (SUT)

Parlin Hall (PAR)

Calhoun Hall (CAL)

Homer Rainey Hall (HRH)

Harry Ransom Center (HRC)
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Harry Ransom Center terrace, Southwest quadrant

3.2.5. Southeast quadrant

This quadrant was dominated for many years by Pearce Hall, the
original 1908 Law School building, facing Twenty-first Street at the
southeast corner of the Forty Acres. It was set back farther from the
street than the later uniform building wall of the campus; treated as
temporary but remained for decades, with other development arranged
around it (the reason there was originally no hyphen between Benedict
and Mezes).

In 1932, Waggener Hall started the street wall along Speedway. Its
northern face conformed to the broad East Mall defined by Garrison
Hall.

With the Law School’s move to its new location in 1953, this quadrant
was available for development as a Business School district. Completed
in 1962, the College of Business Administration (CBA) brought a new
level of density, previously seen only in the Main Building: seven stories
tall, it included UT’s first escalator.

The comparatively steep slope of this corner of campus persistently
suggested to designers the idea of an amphitheatre, which was in fact
realized in a provisional way during the ‘teens and ‘twenties. The slope
is expressed in the great elevation difference between front and back of
Garrison Hall, in the landscaped moat western entrance to the Graduate
School of Business (GSB), and even in the unfortunate innovation of a
pedestrian bridge crossing Twenty-first Street from here.
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Twenty-second Street from Speedway to Inner Campus Drive is a later
addition to the circulation system, dating to the early 1960s.
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Southeast Quadrant

Buildings in the Southeast quadrant:
Garrison Hall (GAR)

Waggener Hall (WAG)

College of Business Administration (CBA)
Graduate School of Business (GSB)
Benedict Hall (BEN)

Mezes Hall (MEZ)

Batts Hall (BAT)
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3.2.6. North quadrants

Along 24th Street, the north edge of the Forty Acres is a row of
rectangular science buildings. As Cret described, the rank of space
south of these buildings was meant as a flexible allotment for expansion
according to varying departmental needs, and so it has been, with
additions to Painter in 1959, and to Welch in 1961 and 1978.

The open northwest corner of the campus is a product of the battle for
the Battle Oaks, when the Biology Labs were first proposed for this
site. Once the Battle Oaks were saved and the land no longer available
for buildings, there were a series of landscape schemes to articulate
this territory as ornamental or botanical garden. The present simple
treatment is an acknowledgement, decades later, of the sanctity of

the trees themselves, and of the now-mature additional live oaks that
create an extensive grove around the Battle Oaks. In 2009, the addition
of the Barbara Jordan statue further reinforced the pride of place of
the Battle Oaks grove.

The north-south axis north of the Tower is the least articulated of the
four cardinal axes. Mary Gearing Hall (originally Home Economics),
north of Twenty-fourth Street just off the Forty Acres, is a strong,
symmetrical visual terminus (and functional gateway) facing the Tower.
Cret’s initial schemes for the new main library included a third phase
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that would have added book storage in a footprint filling most of the
area between Main and Biology and Physics. In the absence of that
addition, or any alternative, the Tower does not include a north entrance
on axis, and the Main Building in general is oriented away from the
north side. The axis between Main and Mary Gearing exists merely as
a driveway. On one side it passes the Biology Ponds, which have taken
on cultural significance of their own, but do little to define an axis
spatially, especially facing a parking lot. Cret designed the Physics
Building (now Painter Hall) with a tower to frame this axis, as at the
Guadalupe entrance to West Mall. It matched the height of the extant
Biology Labs, which faced it from higher ground, but other than height,
Biology offers no gesture to reciprocate.

South of the Battle Oaks, Hogg Auditorium opens eastward onto a
drive that was originally articulated as a minor plaza, but has bled into
parking and service access drives. Farther south is the Union courtyard,
one of the most delightful spaces on campus. This exterior room may be
a happy accident. Both Gilbert and Cret planned a larger space here,
but the 1903 Woman’s Building occupied the center of their intended
quadrangle, and the courtyard was laid out for the time being in this
more restricted space. Flawn and its projecting lecture hall almost
exactly re-create the footprint of the western wing of the Woman’s
Building and the enclosure of this intimate space. The courtyard
originally centered on a pool, later removed, and now echoed in a
fountain installed in a 2008 redesign of the courtyard. That redesign
also added a modern metal pergola that accommodates pedestrian
through traffic; the fountain provides acoustic buffering.

The northeast corner of the Forty Acres is largely occupied by the
large-scale additions to Painter and Welch Halls. At Welch these
additions created a fully-enclosed courtyard, laid out entirely as
hardscape. It also created an informal modern landscape resolving the
relatively steep slope from Inner Campus Drive down to Speedway.

Gebauer Hall (originally the Engineering Building), just east of Main,
is the oldest remaining building on the Forty Acres. During much of
the twentieth century it was one of the ghost buildings designated for
replacement. Will C. Hogg Hall (originally the Geology Building) was
built on alignment with James M. White’s expansive East Mall, in an
uncomfortable relationship with Gebauer, both as to proximity and
grade. With the preservation of Gebauer, this has become a permanent
site condition, a puzzle not yet solved.

Buildings in the North quadrants: Battle Oaks, Biological Laboratories
(BIO), Botany Greenhouse (BOT), Biology Ponds,Painter Hall (PAI),
Welch Hall (WEL), Geology (Will C. Hogg), Gebauer Hall (GEB),
Flawn Academic Center (FAC), Hogg Memorial Auditorium (HMA),
Texas Union (UNB)

35

1908



Preservation Plan for the University of Texas Forty Acres

..‘.....'}.."

Peripatos Map
3.2.7. Peripatos

The original Peripatos was the colonnade of the Lyceum at Athens,
where Aristotle walked as he taught. Thomas Fitz-Hugh, Professor
of Latin, gave the name Peripatos to the perimeter walks that he

proposed along all four sides of the Forty Acres.® Major George W.

¢ Paul Cret, Report Accompanying the General Plan of Development (Jan. 1933), 18.
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The Peripatos c. 1900

Littlefield paid to grade and pave them in 1898, and they were planted
with hackberry trees. With the new walks, the Forty Acres was “*most
beautifully and most usefully unified”” according to newspaper coverage,
and the “privacy and calm of the grounds [would1 be no more invaded
by the streets surrounding the campus.” ” The Peripatos is the oldest
surviving built feature of the Forty Acres, pre-dating every extant
building. The Peripatos along “The Drag’” — the commercial stretch of
Guadalupe adjacent to campus — is the only boundary of UT that has
remained at its original location since 1839.

Cret rendered the walks as a defining edge on all four sides of the
Forty Acres (with no counterpart elsewhere). He reached back to his
native France to show them as pollarded allees — that is, double rows
of geometrically-pruned trees not at all like the hackberries, and even
less like live oaks. “The formal planting of trees as a cloister walk,” he
wrote, “would by shutting off the outer world, make a pleasing contrast
with other parts of the campus which rely, on the contrary, on extended
views toward either the capitol or the eastern range of hills.””® The
Peripatos walks were mostly replanted during the 1930s with live oaks,
though some hackberries remained at least until the 1970s.

Changes over the past 50 years have created different characters in
different segments of the perimeter walks, yet these changes almost
always have adapted rather than eliminated the walks, and thus
maintained continuity. The biggest alteration was the addition of walls
and planters along Guadalupe and Twenty-first Streets in 1971, in a
Modernist vocabulary of flat planes and 45-degree angles executed in

" Cret, Report, 18.
8 Battle Papers, box 4Q526: Growth of the Campus, folder 3, pp. 3-4.
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The Peripatos today

Cordova Shell Limestone. These walls were designed by architect John
C. Robinson, Jr. They reflect an impulse of fortification, but significantly
they contain no gates; the campus remained open if a little less open
than before. And inside the wall next to the HRC is still one of the
places where one can best experience the original walk, still under its
double row of live oaks.

The only interruption of the Peripatos walk is along Guadalupe where
the service entrance in the Union addition forces pedestrians onto the
regular street sidewalk. The bridge over Twenty-first at GSB interrupts
the spatial experience there, but the walk remains in place. The walks
remain along Twenty-fourth Street and Speedway, in close to their
original character. The surviving Peripatos along Speedway enables the
Pelli plan’s intention and Peter Walker’s design for the Speedway Mall:
a mature allee of Live Oaks, and the outward orientation of Forty
Acres buildings to Speedway as a linear public space.

Buildings/features along Peripatos:

Battle Oaks

Biological Laboratories (BIO)

Painter Hall (PAT)

Welch Hall (WEL)

Waggener Hall (WAG)

College of Business Administration (CBA)
Graduate School of Business (GSB)
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Bendict Hall (BEN)
Littlefield Fountain

Homer Rainey Hall (HRH)
Harry Ransom Center (HRC)
Goldsmith Hall (GOL)

Texas Union (UNB)
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3.3. Buildings and major features

Buildings and major landscape features are listed in this section with
the National Register categories of Contributing or Non-contributing to
the potential Forty Acres district. They are also listed with the three-
tier preservation zones that this report proposes as a management tool
(see 5.2.1).

H-1: Primary Historic resources
H-2: Secondary Historic resources
N-H: Non-historic resources

For each building we provide a list of character-defining features: these
lists are not intended to be exhaustive.
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Battle Oaks Grove
(contributing, H-1)

Description

The Battle Oaks are three ancient live oaks, thought to be 200-300
years old, now surrounded by a number of other mature live oaks
planted between 1931 and 1934.

History

The three Battle Oaks are the oldest of the 4,817 trees on campus and
the oldest of the historic features of the Forty Acres, predating the
establishment of the University, and the city of Austin. They survived
the 1863 order of Confederate General John Magruder that trees be
cleared from College Grove in order to build fortifications protecting
the Capitol, said to have been saved as a shady encampment for
Magruder’s troops.’

With the growth of the university, the oaks were again threatened.
Gilbert’s campus plan called for a row of science buildings along the
north edge of the Forty Acres, and in 1922 the Regents authorized the
first of them, a Biology Building, on the site of the oaks. Prof. J. M.
Battle, head of the Faculty Building Committee, received a telegram
from Judge (and later Regent) Robert Lynn Batts in Pittsburgh that
stated, “*Protect the trees at all costs. I’'m more than willing to sit

9 “The Campus Fund. An Important Meeting of Those Interested Therein” (1898) Newspaper clipping, Grounds,
AF U380 (General to 1970). Austin History Center.
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beneath them with a shotgun, if it comes down to it.” The story has
come down to us in the more colorful version that Battle himself
actually took up arms in the trees’ defense; in fact the weapon he chose
was a resolution of the General Faculty:

Whereas the group of three live oaks on the Campus northwest and east
of the [old] Chemistry Building are trees of such extraordinary beauty and
strength, and are endeared to the University by the association of so many
years, that their destruction would be a grievous loss;

Be it so resolved that the Board of Regents be petitioned so to the plan and
placement of the proposed Biology building and any other to be subsequently
erected as to save those trees and give them ample room for growth.*

Saved from the chopping block in 1923, the trees were again
threatened in 1932 when Hogg Auditorium at first was planned ten
yards north of its present location. Battle again took up the cause and
kept the Auditorium from interfering with the oaks.

One other tree in the grove is worth mentioning for its individual
significance: just east of the Battle Oaks is a tree grown from a seed
of Louisiana’s largest live oak, donated in 1933 by the Louisiana Live
Oak Society. *

Integrity

The integrity of the Battle Oaks is high. It consists most importantly

of the health of the three Battle Oaks, and in addition the health of
each of the other oaks in the grove. The rest of the grove is now historic
on its own, and the Barbara Jordan memorial is a recent compatible
addition.

Character-defining features include:

e Mature live oaks

e Open under-story landscape with a contemplative character.

19 Cret, Report, 25.
11 Calhoun was skeptical that any significant number of oaks were cleared from the Forty Acres, because of the
absence of sprouts that would have become substantial trees by the time the university was founded.
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Gebauer, 1904
(contributing, H-1)

Description

The four-story Neo-classical Gebauer Building is dressed in light
yellow brick, and modestly adorned with classical brickwork details
and limestone ornamentation. The south fagade serves as the primary
face of the H plan building, dominated by a central portico entrance
with an ornamented pediment. An exterior granite staircase rises to the
first floor to an arched doorway under the portico. Divided into seven
symmetrical bays, the floors are clearly articulated by the fenestration
pattern with pairs of double-hung windows wrapping around the
building along the ground floor. On the two extended ends of the

south fagade, the bay are separated by monumental Tuscan pilasters,
wrapping around to the east and west facades. Third-floor window pairs
form arches with limestone trim.

The portico is flanked by double-hung windows with limestone
keystones, and three bays of double-hung windows with limestone
arches can be found on the third floor. A limestone belt course with
dentils separates the third and fourth floors. On the fourth floor, stone
carvings above the Tuscan pilasters separate pairs of windows; center
bay windows at the south facade are unadorned. Limestone dentils

and an egg-and-dart frieze ornament the entablature as it meets the
building’s flat roof. The north fagade mimics the south, but in place of a
central entryway are two doorways located at each end. The center bay
of windows aligns between floors to light a central rear stair. East of
the building is a large, detached steel fire stair.
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Portico

History

In 1895 the university established an engineering department

and quickly discovered that a new building would be needed to
accommodate its growth. The San Antonio firm of Coughlin and Ayres
designed the Engineering Building, completed in 1904. It housed the
civil, electrical, mechanical, mining and architectural engineering
programs with laboratories, drawing rooms, classrooms and offices.
The department continued to grow throughout the early twentieth
century, establishing degrees in architectural engineering in 1905 and
mechanical engineering in 1914. Engineering relocated in 1932 and
Paul Cret proposed the building for removal.

The Department of Journalism became the first of several to re-use
the building. During the next twenty years, notable students Walter
Cronkite, Liz Smith and Liz Carpenter took classes and worked here.
In 1952, it became the Speech Building, and in 1977 Student Services
took it over. In 1984 the building was renamed after longtime Dean of
Women Dorothy L. Gebauer.

In 1991, while work was underway to install an elevator, problems
were discovered with the building’s structural slabs, and in January,
1992, occupants were relocated. Professor Dan Leary of the School

of Architecture led a campaign to save the building, and the Regents

in 1993 approved a renovation. The Austin architectural firm Cotera,
Kolar and Negrete were hired in 1997 to complete the renovation work,
adding a new elevator, making structurally sound the foundation and
floors, and adding the freestanding fire stair. The building reopened in
2000 as administrative offices for the College of Liberal Arts. Gebauer
is the oldest building within the original Forty Acres, and the oldest
building on campus built for UT.

Integrity

With the exception of the added fire stairs, Gebauer’s exterior has seen
little alteration. The original material palette and detailing remain
intact. While the interior plan has been altered to suit the building’s
various functions over the years, the fourth floor retains the original
plan with large open rooms at the ends of the central hallway.

Character-defining features include:

e [ight yellow colored brick
e Portico

e Carved stone ornamentation
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Limestone window details

Double-hung windows with wooden sashes

Limestone arches

Brickwork panels

Interior cast-iron stairs and original ornamental railings
Interior trim and columns

Interior longleaf-pine floors
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Battle Hall, 1911
(contributing, H-1)

Description

Battle Hall’s plan is a“T,” a front wing oriented north-south, and an
east-west rear wing. The front wing has a palazzo form with a large
reading room on the second-floor piano nobile, and the west wing
holds seven levels of book storage in library stacks. The building is clad
in cream-colored limestone panels, with a base course of light gray
granite.

The front facade is symmetrical, with seven monumental arched
windows opening onto balconies with decorative wrought iron railings.
The deep-set arched windows have polychrome terra cotta archivolts
with fruit and flowers in relief. Terra cotta medallions with zodiac
signs are on the spandrels between the arches. The letters U and T

for University of Texas are woven into the design of the iron railings.
The wide projecting eaves feature polychrome coffers and pendants
and carved acanthus brackets. The first floor features a central wood-
paneled double front door with a wide architrave carved in low relief
with plants and urns. The door is flanked by two massive, ornate
wrought-iron lanterns derived from Spanish Renaissance prototypes.
The three first-floor bays on either side are deep-set windows with iron
railings.?

12 President’s Office Records, 1907-1968.
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In the north facade, a central doorway provides a prominent secondary
entrance, a deep-set double wooden door with glass panels sheathed by
decorative ironwork and a single transom window above. Two recessed
window openings with decorative iron grills flank the doorway and

a single double-height arched window sits in the upper facade. On

each side of the monumental window is a zodiac-themed terra cotta
medallion.

The fenestration of the east wing, viewed from the north, is a single bay
including a monumental arched window above a smaller recessed first-
floor window. In the north face of the west wing, two bays continue this
arrangement more simply, with large rectangular windows in the upper
floor over asymmetrical deep-set windows below. All of these are simple
punched openings without trim. Just below the eaves are two small
rectangular openings with iron grilles. The westernmost section of this
wing, enclosing the library stacks, is windowless.

The south fagade of the east wing is similar to the north, one story
taller because the basement level is exposed here, with a centered
entrance through a recessed solid wood arched double door. The first
floor is elevated above ground level, with a recessed solid wood double
door opening to a small balcony with decorative ironwork. This door is
flanked by two smaller window openings with decorative iron railings.
In the upper facade is a double-height arched window with a zodiac-
themed terra cotta medallion on each side.

As on the north, the fenestration wraps around to the west side of the
main wing with a single bay at each level, continuing on the south side
of the west wing with two bays of similar but simpler fenestration. The
south facade of the west wing is symmetrical. Double openings on the
basement level feature sidelights and transom windows, the eastern
opening including wooden doors.

The east wing has a hipped roof with copper gutters while the west
wing has a truncated clay tile roof on the north and south sides. Roof
tiles are in a uniform shade of red.

A barrel-vaulted entry hall through the main east entry is lined with
a high wainscot of Alabama cream white marble.'> Two secondary
hallways make a cruciform plan, leading to offices and classrooms.
The main corridor leads to a grand marble staircase in a U-shaped
well with ornamental iron balustrades. The staircase curves upward
clockwise to the second floor. From the first-floor landing, another
staircase curves downward counter-clockwise to the basement

lobby below, off which opens the Alexander Architectural Archives.
Lavatories, with original fixtures, are located just west of the landing.

13 texasexes.org/archive/hookup/hookup200611.htm. “The University is to send the Society a report on the

tree’s health when it turns 100 years old.”
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Battle Hall Reading Room

At the top of the stairs on the upper floor is a domed rotunda encircled
with decorative plaster-formed flowers in light green and white and
crowned by a leaded glass skylight with amber hues. A double-height
archway leads east into the Reading Room. The entry archway is
flanked by double-height archways on each side with a full-size wooden
screen carved in the same motif as the middle entry screen.

The Battle Hall Reading Room is a magnificent space occupying the
entire piano nobile of the building’s front wing. Its ceiling is an open-
timber vaulted roof of large wooden trusses, elaborately carved and
painted in rich blue, red, green and cream. Twelve light fixtures hang
from the trusses, each a brass ring from which hangs twelve glass
domes. Abundant natural light streams through the seven double-height
windows to the east, opposing two identical windows at either side of
the west wall, and one each centered in the north and south walls. The
entire room is lined with oak bookcases that sit upon dark green
marble pedestals. Long, rectangular tables with reading lights fill the
floor space. The walls of the Reading Room are cream-colored
limestone panels.

Interior floor finishes in the east wing include ceramic tile in the

main entry corridor to hardwood and carpet in administrative offices.
The west wing includes seven book stack levels of structural steel,
supporting marble floor panels. The building was constructed with a
single original passenger elevator, which serves the stacks.

History

Designed by Cass Gilbert and completed in 1911, Battle Hall served
as the University Library until the Main Building opened in 1933.
Determining the exact site of the library was Gilbert’s first critical
decision in planning the campus.** Gilbert’s design is a Spanish—
Mediterranean Renaissance Revival style, influenced by the 1898
Boston Public Library designed by McKim Meade and White, where
Gilbert had worked. The Merchants’ Exchange in Saragossa, Spain,
also may have informed the design of the upper floors. The Library
was intended to serve as a newly-ambitious architectural model for the
campus, and it succeeded.

University architect Herbert M. Greene proposed an addition to the
library in 1929, but it was never built. In 1933, the library moved

to the new Main Building. The University Post Office was installed

in the basement, opening to the south. From 1937 to 1947, the Old
Library served as classroom and administrative space for the Fine Arts
Department. The magnificent Reading Room was used as a drawing

14 Roxanne Williamson, National Register nomination, 1970.
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and sculpture studio. In the late 1940s, the Regents approved a motion
to renovate the building for use as a repository for Texas memorabilia,
and in 1950, it was dedicated as the Eugene C. Barker Texas History
Center.

In 1973, the Texas Collection was relocated to Sid Richardson Hall
and the building was named for Dr. William James Battle. From 1973
to 1980, Battle Hall housed administrative offices for the College

of Fine Arts and the library comprised the collections for Music,
Library Science, Education, Psychology, and Architecture. By 1979,
Architecture was the main occupant. A major restoration in 1981 was
cancelled, but the building underwent a small-scale exterior restoration
in 1993.

Today, Battle Hall is the home of the Architecture and Planning
Library, the Alexander Architectural Archive, and the Center for
American Architecture and Design.

Gilbert’s library has attracted durable national recognition. In 1912,
Architecture, the American Institute of Architects (AIA) national
journal, published several pages of elevations, plans, detailed drawings
and photos of the building.'® In 1934, Gilbert’s obituary in the New
York Times cited UT’s library as one of his greatest buildings.*® In
2007, when the AIA celebrated its 150th anniversary by polling
professionals and the public to find the 150 most beloved works of
architecture in the United States, Battle Hall was among them.’

Integrity

Battle Hall has retained integrity with no significant exterior
alterations. The addition of the West Mall Office Building in 1962
obscured the west fagade, though it remains undisturbed and
encapsulated. There are no interior connections between the two
buildings. Small interior modifications have occurred over the years,
including the installation of dropped ceilings in the hallway, classrooms
and offices of the first floor and the installation of modern interior
lighting. An incompatible partition has been installed at the head of
the main stairway. The circulation desk and entrance to the Reading
Room were reconfigured to accommodate open stacks. While relatively
light restoration of the building was undertaken in 1993, a large-scale
restoration of the building is now in the planning stages.

15 University of Texas Buildings Collection, Alexander Architectural Archive, Box rUT D262-12.

16 Barbara Snowden Christen, Cass Gilbert and the Ideal of the City Beautiful: City and Campus Plans,
1900-1916 (CUNY dissertation, 1997), 383. Cass Gilbert to George H. Wells, Feb. 11,1910, CGC, UT-LB
1/10-6/11 (N-YHS) (as cited in Christen).

17 Architecture (New York), Dec. 1912, 26:110-113.
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Character-defining features include:

e Cordova Cream Limestone walls
e Wrought- and cast-iron balcony railings, and ornate lanterns

e Massive solid wood doors with hand forged nail details and wrought
iron grilles

e [arge, arched second story windows with polychrome terra cotta

Ornamental terra cotta zodiac signs in surrounds
the spandrels between window arches

e Ornamental terra cotta zodiac signs in the spandrels between the
window arches

e Ornate limestone carvings surrounding main entrance

e Wide projecting eaves with red tile roof

e Carved and painted brackets and soffits with pendants
e Wooden sashes, windows throughout originally operable

e Main Reading Room with beams and trusses decoratively painted by
Elmer Garnsey

e Stained-glass domed skylight.

Carved and painted brackets and soffits
with pendants e Elaborately-carved wooden screens by Paul Schleich

e \Main stair, with ornamental railings and marble wainscot

e Arched hallways

e Structural stacks with original ornamental hardware and marble
floor panels.

e QOriginal Otis stack elevator

Photo:‘Emin Freeman Reed

Main stair, with ornamental railings and
marble wainscot
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Education (Sutton Hall) (1918)
(contributing, H-1)

Description

Built in the Spanish Renaissance style, the three-story rectangular
Sutton Hall is adorned with colorful Plateresque ornamentation. Pearl
Gray Granite wraps around the base of the building before giving way
to a creamy Lueders limestone on the main floor. Entrances, arch-
fan-lighted wooden doors, are located on all fagades and accented
with ornate Renaissance-style wrought iron lanterns. The two central
entrances, north and south, sit within three-arched loggias, with the
south loggia boasting a Gothic vault with blue and gold ornamental
terra cotta tiles. The second and third floors, composed of buff-to-
orange-to-brown mixed-hued brick are accented with decorative terra
cotta window surrounds, panels, roundels and third-floor wrought-
iron balconies. Five east and west bays and thirteen north and south
bays of wooden-sash windows align with the recessed arched windows
on the first floor. The brightly colored frieze and cornice give way to
the painted soffit with wooden supporting brackets. Sutton Hall is
capped with an overhanging hipped roof of red tiles with three south-
facing dormer windows and one north-facing clerestory window. Two
staircases located in the northeast and northwest corners provide
access to each floor’s central corridor. Located off the main hallway
are offices, studios and classrooms.

2l
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Ornamental terra cotta throughout,
interior and exterior

Decorative wood brackets and eave

History

Eight years after the University Regents called for the construction of
a building for the Department of Education, 1918 saw the completion
of Cass Gilbert’s Education Building. Renamed Sutton Hall in 1930
after President and longtime Dean of Education William Seneca
Sutton, the building originally housed the School of Education but
would later house several foreign languages and architecture in
addition to education. By the late 1970s the School of Architecture
exclusively occupied the building. To connect it to Architecture’s two
other buildings, a new entry loggia was cut into the north facade to
mirror the south loggia in 1977. In 1981, the School of Architecture
renovated Sutton. The attic was converted into usable studio space
and the original north-facing dormers were replaced with one long
clerestory window; otherwise no major alterations were undertaken
to the exterior or interior. An exterior restoration was completed in
1998.18

Integrity

Sutton Hall retains a high level of integrity. It continues in its original
function as a classroom building, and most of its interior and exterior
architectural elements remain. With the exceptions of the addition of a
central elevator and the attic space converted into studio space, little
has changed to the plan and materials inside Sutton Hall. The exterior
has seen two significant alterations since its construction; the loggia
on the north facade and the replacement of the three northern facing
dormers with a clerestory window.

Character-defining features include:

e Ornamental terra cotta throughout, interior and exterior

e Interior wooden doors, glazed partitions and operable transoms
e Decorative wood brackets and eave

e Arched ironwork above doors

¢ Arched first-floor windows

* \Wrought-iron balconies

e Qriginal red tile roof

e Central corridors

e Ground floor corridor with buff brick walls and vaulted ceiling

18 New York Times, May 18, 1934.
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Wrought iron lanterns at entrances

South loggia Gothic vault

Stairwells with ornamental metal railings
Terra cotta floor tiles in corridors and stairs

Parquet wooden floors in offices and classrooms

73
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Biological Laboratories, 1925
(contributing, H-1)

Description

Situated on a slightly sloped site, the rectangular Spanish Renaissance
Biological Laboratories building has a partially exposed basement and
first floor, faced in Lueders limestone and second and third floors faced
in buff brick. A red tile hipped roof tops the building. The long north
and south fagades, divided into fifteen bays, are nearly symmetrical

as are the five-bay east and west facades. A granite staircase rises to
the entrance in the center of the principal (north) fagade. Additional
doors are located in the center of the west fagade and both ends of

the south facade. Set within a limestone entryway, colorful glazed
decorative terra cotta tiles form an arched surround for double wooden
doors. Flanking the stair and entryway are basement level windows

set within the batted limestone and first floor windows with heavy
limestone brackets set within the ashlar limestone. Directly above the
entryway is a second-floor three-way window with a terra cotta crown
and pilasters supporting the wrought-iron balconette of the smaller
terra cotta surrounded third-floor window. The central windows of the
north and south, though slightly different in size and decoration, are
the most ornate on the building. The exterior is adorned with colorful
terra cotta ornamentation representing both student life and biological
life in Texas. Orange terra cotta panels with a blue center tile sit below
the remaining second-floor windows and terra cotta panels with relief
sculptures separate the second and third-floor windows. The third floor
windows are unadorned, except for the end windows on the north and
south facades that mimic the central ones. A stringcourse decorated
with a shell motif sits below the condensed fourth floor composed of
sash windows with terra cotta surrounds and separated by pairs of
painted brown brackets. The corners of the fourth floor each have terra
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cotta panels with the university seal flanking the end windows. The
overhanging eave is slightly slanted with a painted brown soffit with
brackets. A central hallway with offices, labs and classrooms running
along its sides is accessible by two southern stairwells. Larger spaces,
which have been divided over the years, sit at the ends of the central
hallway.

History

In order to provide a state of the art facility for advanced biological
studies, the Board of Regents decided in October 1922 that the next
building constructed on campus be for biology. Originally proposed
for the northwest corner of campus, following Cass Gilbert’s campus
plan, the site was moved eastward in order to spare the Battle Oaks.
The new site was steeper and entailed additional costs. The building
was the first on campus by newly-hired Dallas architect Herbert M.
Greene, and was completed and dedicated in 1925. Housing anatomy,
zoology, physiology, embryology, bacteriology and botany, the laboratory
facilities were cutting edge for their time. Laboratories here were the
first air-conditioned spaces on campus, in order to maintain constant
temperatures for experiments. Boasting also an incinerator, a vault,
refrigerators, electrically-controlled shutters, an animal room, dark
rooms and even a trolley, the building was one of the first labs in the
country to provide its faculty and students with the opportunities
such a facility allowed. Dr. Herman Mueller, a geneticist and professor
(1920-1932) used a basement lab to research gene mutations and
radiation and in 1946 won a Nobel Prize for his work.

The building has remained in its original use as biological laboratories
and teaching spaces. The constantly changing field of biology requires
flexibility and upgrading of equipment, so the building has seen multiple
moves and conversions of labs, classrooms, and offices. The building
saw its first changes in 1931, and again in 1936 and 1952. The 1960s
saw the first major changes to the interior of the building when it

was equipped with an HVAC system for which dropped ceilings were
installed, covering transoms. At this time the western entrance was
added, the original wooden doors on the south fagade were replaced
with metal ones and ramps were added around the building. A fire

in 1975 damaged much of a second floor lab and led to another
renovation in 1981. Most recently, the museum space on the fourth
floor was converted into offices with many of the museum specimens
placed into cases along the corridor.
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Integrity

While the exterior has remained relatively unchanged, the interior

has seen a humber of alterations and changes. Throughout all the
renovations, Biological Laboratories has kept its original function, and
the alterations give evidence of the changing nature of study in the field
of biology. Some original doors with transoms are still found in the
building as well as some of the original paneling in the old herbarium
on the second floor. Original crown moldings remain above dropped
ceilings. The trolley tracks used in the basement are still embedded in
the floor. Despite the many changes, there is still plenty of evidence of
what the building looked like in 1925.

Character-defining features include:

e Decorative terra cotta features on exterior
e Decorative overhanging eave with brackets
¢ Original wooden doors at north entrance

¢ Paneling in second-floor herbarium

e Trolley tracks in basement

¢ Original interior doors and transoms

Decorative terra cotta features on ] .
exterior and decorative overhanging eave e Black and white and green and white floors

MU e Wrought iron balconette and fan lights
e Lanterns at north doors
e Copper and iron gutters
e Interior wood door surround at main entrance

e [nterior wood moldings at main entrance

e Museum specimen cases in fourth-floor corridor
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[GAR]
Garrison Hall, 1926
(contributing, H-1) -
Description

Garrison Hall occupies a sloping site, its three-story west fagade
fronting the raised Main Plaza while the building is a full story taller
on the south and east fagades and half of the north. The building is
L-shaped in plan, with its historic main facade looking north, and the
west facade as a secondary front.

The raised basement and main floor are faced in limestone and

the top two floors in mixed buff-to-red brick, capped with a hipped

roof in mixed-hue red tiles. Garrison is adorned with Texas-themed
ornamentation, including terra cotta medallions displaying historic
Texas cattle brands, Texas-themed relief sculptures, and plaques bearing
names prominent in Texas history.

The main (north) facade is divided into thirteen bays with a central
entrance on the first floor reached by a granite staircase. The recessed
door is located under a barrel-vaulted entryway. The entry arch,
keystone and surround are ornamented with relief sculptures. Main-
floor windows are arched and surrounded by voussoirs, with the
exception of the end windows, which are rectangular. The other three
floors have twelve-over-twelve rectangular sash windows. Window
surrounds vary by floor, with simple punched openings in the rusticated
limestone coursing at the basement, simple brick surrounds with terra
cotta corners at the third floor, and ornamental terra cotta surrounds at
the top floor. The central bay is an ornamental terra cotta composition
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Garrison Hall before construction of the
Computation Center

with relief sculptures glazed burnt orange, blue and green, and wrought-
iron balconies at both the third and fourth floor windows. The top floor
corner windows are topped by the terra cotta plaques bearing names
famous in Texas history, flanked by twisted pink and green jambs. A
double-level soffit is supported by wooden brackets and rafter tails,

and includes medallions, all decoratively painted. The window and soffit
arrangements and materials repeat on all other fagades with slight
differences.

The secondary (west) front has seven bays, with a center three-bay
arched loggia as an entryway (now the main entrance). “Garrison Hall”
is inscribed in a limestone panel above the loggia. Two wrought-iron
lanterns flank the loggia as do two four-over-four sash windows covered
with wrought iron grilles. All floors are accessible by two interior
stajrcases with ornamental wrought-iron railings. Glazed green terra
cotta tiles line the main floor corridor walls and floor.

History

After the Santa Rita oil strike, the University embarked on an era

of campus growth, and Garrison Hall was the first new building
authorized. Designed by Herbert M. Greene, and constructed in 1926,
Garrison was configured to frame James M. White’s proposed broad
East Mall. It housed classrooms, lecture halls, labs and office space
for the Department of History and Social Sciences, and was named for
longtime history professor George Pierce Garrison.

Since its construction Garrison has seen little change to its exterior

or interior. In 2006-2007 the building was rehabilitated; the work
reconditioned the wooden window sashes and installed low-E glass,
extended the elevator to the attic and added handrails to the interior
staircases. A few brackets at the soffit were replaced due to rot. Though
some original interior green terra cotta tiles remain, many have cracked
and subsequently been replaced by near-matching tiles.

Integrity

With little alteration to its exterior or interior, Garrison retains a high
level of integrity. It still houses the Department of History. The original
layout remains, though some rooms have been divided to create more
offices. Dropped ceilings have been installed throughout the building.
Many of the original doors with dark wood paneling surrounds and
transom lights remain, as do some original blackboards.
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Character-defining features include:

Terra cotta ornamentation, including medallions
Historic name plaques
Relief sculptures

Decorative overhanging eave with brackets, rafter tails and
medallions

Original red-tile hipped roof

Wrought-iron balconies, lanterns, and window grilles
Exposed beams inside loggia

Green-glazed interior tile walls and floors

Original interior doors with divided lights, dark wood paneling
surrounds and transom lights

Original blackboards

Original metal stairs with decorative metal and wood railings
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[(BOT]

Botany Greenhouse, 1929%

(contributing, H-2)
Description

The headhouse is a simple gable, stucco-fagade building oriented
North-South, with basement level partly exposed toward the east. Its
entrance is on the West face. A long greenhouse wing extends south, to
another greenhouse wing oriented East-West.

History

The Botany greenhouse was prefabricated, ordered from Lord &
Burnham, a leading manufacturer of greenhouses founded in England
in the nineteenth century, with branches in the United States. The
greenhouse has two additions, the first an extension continuing to the
south, the second at right angles. The first extension was designed in
1939 but not constructed at the time. Along with the second extension,
it was completed in 1951. The greenhouse has served primarily

as a teaching facility. Its location immediately adjacent to Botany
classrooms gives students regular hands-on access to their subject.
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Integrity

The greenhouse retains good integrity. Much of its glazing was broken
in a severe hailstorm in May, 2008; the glazing was replaced and other
repairs completed later that year.

Character-defining features include:

e (Glass greenhouse

e Plants

1921
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[WEL] =

Welch Hall, 1931
(contributing, H-1)

(In keeping with UT’s campus management practice, we treat Welch
as three buildings, the original 1931 Chemistry Building and its two
additions, together considerably larger than the original. The original
building contributes to the Forty Acres district; the two additions are
non-contributing and are discussed later in this chapter.)?°

Description

The Chemistry Building is a four-story renaissance palazzo mass,
originally with a shallow E plan, the projecting wings to the south
(away from the main fagade). The main (north) fagade is a long,
symmetrical composition of 27 bays. The ground floor, partly below
grade at the west end, is faced in rusticated Cordova Cream Limestone.
The three floors above are of mixed buff-to-orange brick, capped by a
bamiie & . £ . red tile hipped roof with dormer and clerestory vents. Fenestration is
Physics and Chemistry Buildings a reqular pattern of rectangular openings, each a steel-sash window
composed of a pair of eight-light casements topped by a four-light fixed
transom.

The four-story central entrance bay is an elaborate limestone and brick
Spanish Colonial retablo. The entire portal structure projects forward
from the brick building facade in four separate, shallow reveals, each
one narrower than the last: the first is of brick on all four stories, and
the other three are of limestone on the first three stories and brick on
the fourth. Windows are positioned vertically between floors. The top

20 National Register practice, strictly speaking, will treat the whole as a single contributing building, incuding
two incompatible additions.
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opening, a louvered vent set within ornamental brickwork, lines up with
fourth-floor windows. The entrance is a limestone arch framing wooden
double doors. Steps of granite and brick approach between limestone
cheek walls. The entrance is topped by an inscription reading
“Chemistry,”” flanked by medallions with reliefs of lab equipment, and
by ornamental wrought-iron lanterns.

East and west facades are each symmetrical with seven bays. The
central entrance bays are two-story limestone compositions less
elaborate but similar to the main entrance. The eastern entrance is a
full story above Speedway, with a tall stair. The western entrance is
nearly at grade, with a simple stair. The south fagade remains visible
except for the ends of the east and west wings, where additions join the
original building. The east and west wings continue the full height of the
building, with hipped roofs. The center wing is one story shorter, topped
with a balustrade and terrace.

A center hall runs the length of the building, with stub hallways in the
east and west wings. The central wing holds a lecture hall with theatre
seating, occupying the height of both ground and first floors, and above
that a library. Both rooms have ceilings of coffered concrete,
ornamentally painted. In the lecture room, rails in the floor and a
turntable originally allowed heavy lab demonstrations to be moved
from an adjacent prep room. The lecture room also includes historic
paneling.

History

The Chemistry Department had the first separate departmental
building on the UT campus, completed in 1892 in order to remove
foul-smelling laboratories from the basement of Old Main to a
properly-ventilated facility. That chemistry building burned on October
16,1926, and the department was displaced to temporary quarters.?
The Santa Rita oil funds made possible an ambitious replacement.

The Chemistry Building was designed by Herbert Greene, with Paul
Cret as Supervising Architect. Department Chair William A. Felsing
travelled widely to examine other laboratories while planning the new
building. Lab utilities and ventilation were state-of-the-art. The library
was named for UT’s first professor of chemistry, John William Mallett.
At the time of its completion, it was the second largest building on
campus, after Old Main.

21 |awrence Speck, “The University of Texas: Vision and Ambition,” in Barbara S. Christen and Steven
Flanders,eds., Cass Gilbert, Life and Work (W. W. Norton, 2001), 200.
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Main lecture hall (WEL 2.122) with
painted ceiling with symbols of alchemy
and Texas, and doors with inset glass
panels
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Main lecture hall (WEL 2.122), detail
of painted ceiling
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Chemistry Library (WEL 4.132), with
doors including stained-glass panels
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Chemistry Library (WEL 4.132), detail
of door with stained-glass panel

The West Wing (“Welch B”), the first addition, was constructed in
1960-61 to the southwest. The whole Chemistry complex was named in
1974 for Robert A. Welch, a Houston philanthropist whose foundation
supports chemistry research and education. *Welch C” was constructed
in 1978, extending along Speedway from the southeast end of the
original building, then east to meet Welch B, and also below the grade
of the resulting enclosed courtyard. Welch C includes a new library
that supplanted the 1931 Mallett Chemistry Library, now used as a
conference room.

After Welch C was completed, extensive renovations were undertaken in
the original building during 1980-81. These included restoration of the
Mallett Library ceiling painting (previously damaged by the installation
of flourescent lights), by UT Interior Design Professor Buie Harwood.
Further work was undertaken in 1986-88 to meet modern laboratory
standards.??

Integrity

Welch Hall retains integrity. On the exterior, all north, east and west
facades of the original building are unaltered. Most of the south fagade
is also visible, within an enclosed courtyard for<ns1:XMLFault xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat"><ns1:faultstring xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat">java.lang.OutOfMemoryError: Java heap space</ns1:faultstring></ns1:XMLFault>